Effective Strategies for Providing Quality Youth Mentoring in Schools and Communities Generic Mentoring Program Policy and Procedure Manual





THE GEORGE WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL OF EDUCATION AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT







This publication contains pages that have been left intentionally blank for proper pagination when printing.

## **Generic Mentoring Program**

# Policy and

Effective Strategies for Providing Quality

# Procedure Manual

Youth Mentoring in Schools and Communities

Revised September 2007

Published by: The Hamilton Fish Institute on School and Community Violence & The National Mentoring Center at Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory

> With support from: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, U.S. Department of Justice

#### Hamilton Fish Institute on School and Community Violence

The George Washington University 2121 K Street NW, Suite 200, Washington, DC 20037-1830 Ph: (202) 496-2200 E-mail: hamfish@gwu.edu Web: http://www.hamfish.org

Hamilton Fish Institute Director: Dr. Beverly Caffee Glenn

#### National Mentoring Center

Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory 101 SW Main St., Suite 500 Portland, OR 97204 Toll-free number: 1-800-547-6339, ext. 135 E-mail: mentorcenter@nwrel.org Web: http://www.nwrel.org/mentoring

National Mentoring Center: Eve McDermott, Director

Authors: Linda Ballasy, Mark Fullop, and Michael Garringer

Editor: Michael Garringer

Technical editor: Eugenia Cooper Potter

Layout design: Dennis Wakeland

Cover design: Paula Surmann

©2008, National Mentoring Center All Rights Reserved

This project was supported by the Hamilton Fish Institute on School and Community Violence through Award No. 2005-JL-FX-0157 awarded by the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice. Points of view or opinions in this document are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice or the Hamilton Fish Institute.

## About the Effective Strategies for Providing Quality Youth Mentoring in Schools and Communities Series

Mentoring is an increasingly popular way of providing guidance and support to young people in need. Recent years have seen youth mentoring expand from a relatively small youth intervention (usually for youth from single-parent homes) to a cornerstone youth service that is being implemented in schools, community centers, faith institutions, school-to-work programs, and a wide variety of other youth-serving institutions.

While almost any child can benefit from the magic of mentoring, those who design and implement mentoring programs also need guidance and support. Running an effective mentoring program is not easy, and there are many nuances and programmatic details that can have a big impact on outcomes for youth. Recent mentoring research even indicates that a short-lived, less-than-positive mentoring relationship (a hallmark of programs that are not well designed) can actually have a negative impact on participating youth. Mentoring is very much worth doing, but it is imperative that programs implement proven, research-based best practices if they are to achieve their desired outcomes. That's where this series of publications can help.

The Effective Strategies for Providing Quality Youth Mentoring in Schools and Communities series, sponsored by the Hamilton Fish Institute on School and Community Violence, is designed to give practitioners a set of tools and ideas that they can use to build quality mentoring programs. Each title in the series is based on research (primarily from the esteemed Public/Private Ventures) and observed best practices from the field of mentoring, resulting in a collection of proven strategies, techniques, and program structures. Revised and updated by the National Mentoring Center at the Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory, each book in this series provides insight into a critical area of mentor program development:

*Foundations of Successful Youth Mentoring*—This title offers a comprehensive overview of the characteristics of successful youth mentoring programs. Originally designed for a community-based model, its advice and planning tools can be adapted for use in other settings.

*Generic Mentoring Program Policy and Procedure Manual*—Much of the success of a mentoring program is dependent on the structure and consistency of service delivery, and this guide provides advice and a customizable template for creating an operations manual for a local mentoring program.

*Training New Mentors*—All mentors need thorough training if they are to possess the skills, attitudes, and activity ideas needed to effectively mentor a young person. This guide provides ready-to-use training modules for your program.

*The ABCs of School-Based Mentoring*—This guide explores the nuances of building a program in a school setting.

Building Relationships: A Guide for Mentors—This resource is written directly for mentors, providing them with 10 simple rules for being a successful mentor and quotes from actual volunteers and youth on what they have learned from the mentoring experience.

Sustainability Planning and Resource Development for Youth Mentoring Programs—Mentoring programs must plan effectively for their sustainability if they are to provide services for the long run in their community. This guide explores key planning and fundraising strategies specifically for youth mentoring programs.

• • •

The Hamilton Fish Institute and the National Mentoring Center hope that the guides in this series help you and your program's stakeholders design effective, sustainable mentoring services that can bring positive direction and change to the young people you serve.

## Acknowledgments

The National Mentoring Center (NMC) would like to thank the following individuals for their support and assistance with the original version of this publication:

- Jayme Marshall and Eric Stansbury at the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, U.S. Department of Justice
- Jodi Jaworski, formerly of the Mentoring Institute in St. Louis, Missouri
- Amy Cannata from the LEARNS project at NWREL

The NMC also thanks Scott Peterson at the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, U.S. Department of Justice for his support of the NMC and for mentoring in general. Finally, we thank the Hamilton Fish Institute on School and Community Violence at the George Washington University for their support in developing and disseminating this revised publication.

## Disclaimer

This publication is designed to provide information only in regard to the subject matter covered. It is distributed with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering legal, accounting, or other professional services. If legal advice or other expert assistance is required, advice from local law enforcement and social service agencies, and/or the services of a competent professional should be sought. Readers will be responsible for obtaining independent advice before acting on any information contained in or in connection with this book. Your agency's board of directors should be consulted and their approval sought for all such matters affecting the risk and liability of your organization.

## Contents

<b>Overview</b>
The Importance of a Policy and Procedure Manual   I     Defining Policies and Procedures   I     Hearthin Manual II   I
How This Manual Is Organized4How To Use This Manual6
Section I. Organizational Background
Section II. Program Policies
Recruitment Policy
Inquiry Policy
Eligibility Policy
Screening Policy
Training Policy.
Matching Policy
Match Support and Supervision Policy
Recognition Policy
Record-Keeping Policy
Confidentiality Policy
Transportation Policy
Overnight Visit and Out-of-Town Travel Policy
Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Policy
Use of Alcohol, Drugs, Tobacco, and Firearms Policy
Unacceptable Behavior Policy
Closure Policy.
Evaluation Policy
Section III. Program Procedures
Recruitment Procedure
Inquiry Procedure
Mentor Screening Procedure
Mentee Screening Procedure
Training Procedure
Matching Procedure
Match Support and Supervision Procedure
Recognition Procedure
Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Procedure 124
Closure Procedure
Evaluation Procedure

blank page

## Overview

## The Importance of a Policy and Procedure Manual

One of the cornerstones of any mentoring program is a policy and procedure manual that provides governance and guidance in the delivery of services. While most nonprofit agencies and schools have written policies and procedures, mentoring programs within these settings should develop a manual that specifically addresses its purpose, rules, and procedures. There are many important facets to administering a quality youth mentoring program and written policies and procedures can contribute greatly to the long-term stability and safety of your program by:

- Providing documentation of your organization's vision and operating principles. A policy and procedure manual provides a clear statement of your program's mission, values, and vision and provides the framework that defines your mentoring program's operating principles and processes.
- Providing staff with clear guidelines on how to administer a program. A policy and procedure manual provides detailed, step-by-step instructions on how to administer your mentoring program and clearly defines staff roles, agency expectations, and routine operating guidelines.
- Addressing risk management issues. A policy and procedure manual is the cornerstone of your risk management plan because it provides clear and explicit instructions on how every part of your mentoring program will be administered. Developing a policy and procedure manual will help eliminate uncertainties concerning how to *safely, effectively*, and *consistently* run your mentoring program.
- Ensuring consistent operations despite possible turnover in key staff. If your policies and procedures are not documented, your organization risks losing crucial program operations knowledge if a key staff member leaves. By clearly detailing, in writing, how your mentoring program is run, you minimize organizational knowledge loss and program disruption. A policy and procedure manual will help your program maintain continuity of services and will assist you in training new staff members.



- Serving as a blueprint for program replication and expansion. A policy and procedure manual gives you a consistent model for program expansion or replication. Whether you are expanding your program locally or nationally, or applying for new grants, written policies and procedures will greatly enhance your ability to grow.
- Serving as a baseline for continuous improvement. Although developing your policy and procedure manual is hard work, this important task forces your program to examine its services and be honest about the structure of current program practices. Once written, your policy and procedure manual provides you with a concrete starting point that will allow you to continually improve and refine everything your program does.

This workbook offers a set of policies and procedures that are common for a typical community-based youth mentoring program. School-based programs can also use this book as a starting point, provided they include relevant school policies or regulations and modify the content to reflect the site-based nature of their services (for example, most sitebased programs will not need a separate overnight visit policy if all offcampus contact is barred).

Advice for modifying these policies and procedures for school-based models is included throughout the workbook.

## **Defining Policies and Procedures**

All programs function under a set of operating rules and principles even if they do not officially call them policies and procedures or have not taken the time to write them down. Policies and procedures represent the sum total of the decisions, requirements, and activities needed to run your mentoring program. All major program rules and guiding principles should be captured in your official policies and procedures and organized into a manual that can be easily accessed by staff and clients. In creating this manual you are essentially classifying your program operations into two categories:

## Policies

Policies are high-level program statements that embrace the goals of your program and define *what* is acceptable to ensure program success, the safety of youth in your program, and effective and consistent program operations. Policies are crucial to your program achieving its goals and are mostly developed for program practices that are mandatory and non-negotiable in nature. For example, a policy might address the level of screening all mentors must complete or whether your program

allows for overnight visits between mentors and mentees. Policies are typically approved and monitored by an agency's board.

## Procedures

Procedures are statements that describe *how* a particular operational function is implemented and managed within your program. Procedures are brief statements that describe the step-by-step process necessary to implement your policies and other agency practices. Procedures often include *who* should carry out tasks and when those tasks are to be done. Examples of mentoring program procedures include the process for conducting background checks, the steps staff follow when matching a mentor and mentee, and the sequential process for closing a match between the mentor and mentee. Procedures are usually governed by the program coordinator or other staff but may also require executive director and/or board approval.

## **Comparison of Policies and Procedures**

Policies	Procedures
Widespread application	Narrower focus
Non-negotiable, changes infrequently	Open to change or continuous improvement
Expressed in broad terms and requirements	Detailed description of activities
Statements of "what" and/or "why"	Statements of "how," "when," and/or "who" and sometimes "what"
Answers major operational issue(s)	Describes process
Approved by the board or advisory council	Managed by program staff

## How This Manual Is Organized

The purpose of this manual is to provide an overview of a typical mentoring program's policies and procedures. To assist you further, we have also created an electronic template that contains examples of policies and procedures, which your program can modify as needed. That template can be downloaded online at: http://www.hamfish.org

## The Example of the "New Insights Mentoring Program"

To further illustrate how policies are developed, we have created a fictional mentoring program: New Insights Mentoring Program. Examples of New Insights policies and procedures are shown throughout this manual. New Insights follows a typical community-based model, providing mentoring services to at-risk youth ages 11–18. We have also included advice on how New Insights policies and procedures could be adapted for a school-based setting. The New Insights Mentoring Program is meant as an example only and any resemblance to an actual program is purely coincidental.

The manual is divided into three sections that explain the individual policies and procedures that are essential to managing a youth mentoring program:

#### Section 1. Organizational Background

This section will help you organize essential information about your program and organizational or school setting. This information is important because it helps to define and outline the core structure of your program. If you consolidate these documents into your policy and procedure manual, they will be easy to access and available for quick reference.

#### **Section 2. Program Policies**

This section identifies core policies that should govern your mentoring program. Included with each policy is a list of key questions that can guide you in creating your own policies, as well as a sample that you can use as a model.

#### **Section 3. Program Procedures**

This section addresses the mentoring program procedures that *operationalize* your policies. We have included sample procedures and forms for the primary operational components of your mentoring program. Because your program's procedures will likely differ from the New Insights examples, we have included discussion of key concepts behind each procedure and self-assessment questions to help you modify the examples.

## Sample Forms Included in the Manual:

#### **Recruitment Procedure, p. 60**

Mentor Job Description Annual Recruitment Plan Annual Recruitment Plan Timeline Quarterly Recruitment Activity Plan

#### Inquiry Procedure, p. 66

Mentor Orientation Session Outline Mentee Orientation Session Outline Volunteer Inquiry Tracking

#### Mentor Screening Procedure, p. 70

**Application Packet:** 

- Mentor Application
- Information Release
- Personal References

Mentor Interest Survey
Mentor Interview
Personal Reference Interview
Mentor Assessment Summary
Mentor Acceptance Letter
Mentor Rejection Letter
Mentor Contact Sheet

#### Mentee Screening Procedure, p. 90

Mentee Referral Parent/Guardian Referral Letter Application Packet: – Mentee Application – Contact and Information Release – Mentee Interest Survey Mentee Interview Mentee Assessment Summary Mentee Acceptance Letter Mentee Rejection Letter Mentee Contact Sheet

#### Training Procedure, p. 104

Mentor Training Curriculum Outline Mentee Training Curriculum Outline Training Evaluation Mentor Training Completion Worksheet Mentee Training Completion Worksheet

## Matching Procedure, p. 111

Match Worksheet Mentor Contract Mentee Contract Parent/Guardian Contract

#### Match Support and Supervision Procedure, p. 117

Mentor Report Log Mentee Report Log Parent/Guardian Report Log

#### Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Procedure, p. 124

Child Abuse and Neglect Report

#### Closure Procedure, p. 128

Match Closure Summary Mentor Exit Survey Mentee Exit Survey Parent/Guardian Exit Survey Closure Letter

## How To Use This Manual

Whether you use this manual as a review guide or follow it step by step, we urge you to carefully consider the specific design and structure of your program when developing your own policy and procedure manual.

The following table is offered as a guide to when and how you might use this manual to develop or revise a customized policy and procedure manual for your mentoring program.

If your agency	then you may want to	
is solely dedicated to youth mentoring and you have an existing policy and procedure manual	use this manual as a review checklist to ensure the thoroughness of your existing manual.	
is providing more than one program or service and your policy and procedure manual does not comprehensively address all facets of your mentoring program	use this manual as a guide to develop supplemental policies and procedures to guide and support your youth mentoring program.	
is in the planning or early implementation stages of a mentoring program	use this manual as a step-by-step guide for structuring and developing a written policy and procedure manual.	
has been operating for some time without a policy and procedure manual	use this manual as a guide to help minimize your program's exposure to risk. Having a written policy and procedure manual is crucial and a key part of risk management and overall program success.	

## **Manual Development**

Policies and procedures are typically developed by a program coordinator, executive director, and/or members of an advisory board. All policies and procedures should be reviewed by appropriate legal counsel and approved by your agency's board of directors (or, in school-based settings, appropriate school or district administrators). They should be reviewed annually and any changes should be approved by the program advisory board and board of directors.

To assist in developing your own customized manual, we have created a separate, editable template version of these policies, procedures, and accompanying forms. This template is available in Microsoft Word format, and can be easily downloaded from the Hamilton Fish Institute Web site at: http://www.hamfish.org

It is imperative when using these policies, procedures, and forms as the basis for your own to carefully review and revise them. This includes replacing the New Insights name and logo with your own, adding/ deleting/revising policies and procedures to make them specific to your own program, and adjusting the forms to fit your program requirements.

Blank page

## Section I.

# Organizational Background

his first section of your policy and procedure manual should provide a clear picture of your mentoring program's (and your parent agency's) history, mission, vision, and overall structure. This information will allow those who work with your agency to get an overall sense of your organization and to better comprehend how mentoring fits into the framework. This information is also useful for training staff and volunteers and in creating marketing and promotional materials. In this section, you may also want to include any relevant information concerning the specifics of your funding (for example, a government grant) and how it is to be administered.



## What to include in this section:

Organizational Information

- Agency and Program History
- Mission Statement
- Vision Statement

Organizational Structure

- Organizational Chart
- List of Board Members
- Job Descriptions

Organizational Documents

- Agency Bylaws
- 501(c)(3) Letter
- Memorandums of Understanding (MOU's)
- Relevant Grant and Contract Documents or Other Agency Agreements

## **Organizational Information**

#### **Agency and Program History**

This section gives a broad overview of how your agency has come into existence and how it continues to evolve. This written summary is important because it highlights key events in the history of your organization and allows those inside and outside the agency to understand

## New Insights Mentoring Program History

New Insights, a nonprofit organization, was founded in 1999 in Winwood Heights by two grassroots community activists, Mark Hopefield and Lynne Graham. Hopefield and Graham were brought together by a common belief that many youth in their community lacked meaningful academic and career guidance. Determined to make a difference, Hopefield and Graham convened a series of community meetings, attended by more than 30 community leaders and concerned parents. With initial financial commitments from community members and local businesses, Hopefield and Graham founded New Insights as a nonprofit IRS 501(c) (3) corporation. Since opening its doors, New Insights has forged strong partnerships with the local business community, media, school districts, and other youth-serving organizations in the community.

Lynn Graham, executive director, and her staff of six continue to carry out the New Insights vision and expand the scope of program services. New Insights currently operates a tutoring program and career exploration resource centers at two local schools and manages a community-based afterschool drop-in program. Since its inception, New Insights has served over 400 youth and is currently expanding its scope of services to include a mentoring program for youth 11–18. your founding vision and how it continues to develop.

Typical information to be captured in your organization's history includes:

- The date your organization was founded
- Why the organization was created or its purpose
- Who you serve, a description of the client population
- Major developmental milestones (i.e., receiving substantial grants, community awards, or recognition)
- Other programmatic goals that you feel will give individuals a strong understanding of your organization

A number of written formats may be used to develop an agency and program history, such as a personal story from the perspective of the agency founders, a narrative history, an annotated timeline, or a bulleted list organized around themes or a metaphor.

## **Mission Statement**

A mission statement is a clear, concise statement that is simple, easy to remember, and repeatable. It is a one-sentence statement that your board members, staff, and volunteers can effectively use to lobby on behalf of your organization.

A mission statement defines the guiding principles of the organization and should succinctly and accurately explain:

- Who the agency is
- What it does
- Who it serves
- Where its services are provided

## **Vision Statement**

A vision is what you want your organization to become. It is an image, dream, or future picture of what your organization will become when it achieves its mission. Your vision should reflect the driving passions and values of your organization.

## New Insights Mentoring Program

## **Mission Statement**

The mission of the New Insights Mentoring Program is to empower at-risk youth in our community to make positive life choices that enable them to maximize their personal potential.

## New Insights Mentoring Program Vision Statement

New Insights Mentoring Program envisions a community in which every youth experiences nurturing one-to-one relationships and community support, which in turn allows each of them to develop into their full potential, capable of making informed, responsible decisions as involved members of our community.

## **Organizational Structure**

#### **Organizational Chart**



#### **List of Board Members**

A list of board members for the agency should be included in your manual. If your mentoring program has its own Advisory Board, that membership list should also be included.

#### **Job Descriptions**

This section should include job descriptions for all the positions in your organization or program. Since job descriptions are a detailed listing of tasks, functions, and responsibilities and reporting structure of staff, they assist in clarifying the roles, responsibilities, and expectations of the program. Currently, the New Insights Mentoring Program has two staff positions. For illustration purposes we have only included the job description for the program coordinator.

## **New Insights Mentoring Program Program Coordinator – Mentoring Job Description**

The mission of New Insights, Inc., a nonprofit IRS 501(c)(3) agency located in Winwood Heights, is to empower at-risk youth in our community to make positive life choices that enable them to maximize their personal potential. Through collaborative programming with schools and other community-based organizations, we provide educational, social, and mentoring opportunities to enhance the academic performance, community connections, and career options of the youth.

The Program Coordinator oversees the development and implementation of the youth mentoring program, which matches adult volunteer mentors with youth in a one-to-one relationship. The Program Coordinator ensures program quality and performance related to recruiting, screening, matching, monitoring, and closing the relationship with the mentor and child, and communicates with the mentor, parent/guardian, and child throughout the relationship.

Reporting to the executive director, the Program Coordinator is responsible for overseeing all aspects of the mentoring program, and will carry out the responsibilities of the position as defined below:

## **Duties:**

- Create and oversee implementation of an ongoing mentor recruitment plan, including development of an annual recruitment and quarterly activity plans, development and distribution of program marketing materials, presentations to targeted organizations, and ensuring a presence at key community events, etc.
- Perform and oversee participant screening, training, matching, support and supervision, recognition, and closure activities
- Develop and manage relationships with schools, training centers, and community-based organizations
- Build a strong working relationship with our mentoring program advisory board
- Oversee inquiry and orientation process to ensure excellent public relations and customer service
- Manage the planning and implementation of mentor/mentee group events (e.g., bowling trips, pizza parties, end-of-year events)
- Plan and implement recognition activities for program participants
- Maintain and update the program's policy and procedure manual as needed
- Oversee program evaluation activities

#### Program Coordinator – Mentoring Job Description, page 2 of 2

- Supervise mentoring program staff
- Attend regional/national conferences to increase knowledge of mentoring program and best practices
- Complete other duties and activities as needed

#### **Qualifications:**

- Bachelor's degree preferred with emphasis on social work, psychology, volunteer management, and/or education
- Two or more years experience in mentoring and youth development, working within community organizations and/or schools preferred
- Expert knowledge of mentoring program policies and procedures
- Extremely strong organizational, writing, verbal, and interpersonal skills
- Creativity and flexibility in assuming significant responsibility
- Experience working in racially, ethnically, and socioeconomically diverse urban communities preferred
- Spanish speaking/writing strongly preferred

## Compensation:

Starting salary range: \$30,000–\$45,000 per annum, plus a benefits package that includes vacation, medical, dental, life insurance, transportation benefit, and retirement 401k plan.

## **Applications:**

A letter of application and résumé must be submitted to: Human Resources, New Insights, Inc., P.O. Box 5575, Winwood Heights, IL 89633.

AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER Minorities and Women Encouraged To Apply

## **Organizational Documents**

The final documents to be included in the Organizational Background vary, and what to include is determined by the needs of your program. Documents that are typically included in this section are:

Agency Bylaws. Useful for grant writing and orienting new staff members

501(c)(3) Tax-Exempt Status Letter. Often needed to verify nonprofit status to donors, foundations, and other sources of funding

Memorandums of Understanding (MOU's). Important as reference guides regarding roles and responsibilities of program partners

## **Relevant Grant and Contract Documents or other Agency**

**Agreements.** Reference documents like grant and contract reporting schedules, scope of work, evaluation tools, and contact lists assist the program staff in the day-today management of grant requirements

Based Programs Programs operating at a school campus or other educational setting may also wish to include the following in this section of their manual: Background information about the school or district

Tip for School-

⊃ A listing of relevant school

Information about the students in the school or district

Information about other volunteer efforts at the school (providing a "big picture" of the community involvement taking place at the school site)

## New Insights MENTORING PROGRAM Memorandum of Understanding

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) made this 7th day of January 2003 as managed by the New Insights Mentoring Program (NIMP). This MOU establishes that NIMP, Winwood Heights Middle School (WHMS), Winwood Heights High School (WHHS), and Winwood Heights Recreation Center (WHRC) agree to the following terms and conditions as partners in the New Insights Mentoring Program:

## NIMP will:

- Identify, solicit, and recruit volunteer mentor applicants
- Manage programmatic activities including but not limited to development of policies and procedures, fund development, and case management
- Oversee all operational activities including screening, training, matching, support and supervision, recognition, and closure procedures
- Coordinate one-to-one mentor and mentee matching to meet the goal of 25 new matches per year
- Manage all fiscal requirements including fund development, budget management, and fiscal planning
- Provide evaluation summaries of the project to all partners

## WHMS will:

- Provide on-site coordination, an adequate project site, office space, and facility amenities
- Identify appropriate WHMS students for referral
- Advise on the academic needs of participating youth
- Assist in providing program evaluation data for participating students including grades, attendance records, discipline records, and counselor and teacher reports
- Provide a contact person
- Cooperate to the fullest extent possible with NIMP Coordinator

## WHHS will:

- Provide on-site coordination, an adequate project site, office space, and facility amenities
- Identify appropriate WHHS students for referral
- Advise on the academic needs of participating youth
- Assist in providing program evaluation data for participating students including grades, attendance records, discipline records, and counselor and teacher reports
- Provide a contact person
- Cooperate to the fullest extent possible with NIMP Coordinator

oup recreational activiti	0
development, leadersh	ip, and relationship building to
sible with NIMP Coord	linator
	dential regarding participants ar cooperation with law enforce- statutes.
e caused this MOU to	be executed as of the day and
Title	Date
Title	Date
Title	Date
	ssible with NIMP Coord old all information confi parental consent or in ocal and state laws and re caused this MOU to Title

Blank page

## Section II. Program Policies

A II mentoring programs need to have clearly defined policies in place that coordinate activities within the organization and among staff members. If your program is part of a larger organization, make sure that your policies correspond with those of your parent organization.

The policies listed below represent widespread mentoring program practices. Most, if not all, will apply to your mentoring program regardless of setting. Based on your program's structure, population served, and community affiliations, you may need to add, delete, or modify policies accordingly.

## What to include in this section:

- Recruitment Policy
- Inquiry Policy
- Eligibility Policy
- Screening Policy
- Training Policy
- Matching Policy
- Match Support and Supervision Policy
- Recognition Policy
- Record-Keeping Policy
- Confidentiality Policy
- Transportation Policy
- Overnight Visits and Out-of-Town Travel Policy
- Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Policy
- Use of Alcohol, Drugs, Tobacco, and Firearms Policy
- Unacceptable Behavior Policy
- Closure Policy
- Evaluation Policy



## **Recruitment Policy**

The recruitment policy should provide clear direction regarding the development, implementation, and review of a mentor recruitment plan. A recruitment plan is critical to obtaining volunteer mentors and instrumental to the success of your program. Your recruitment policy should indicate how the recruitment plan will be managed as well as the roles and responsibilities of staff and board in doing these activities. This policy serves to ensure that effective recruitment of volunteer mentors is continuous and well managed. Note that this is different than your eligibility policy, which simply stipulates the qualifications for participation.

#### **Key Development Questions:**

- What types of individuals are you targeting to be mentors (such as those of a specific gender, race, ethnicity, age, occupation, or background)?
- What are the recruitment goals of the program?
- Who (both on your staff and in the community) should be involved in developing the recruitment plan? Implementing the plan?
- What is an effective and reasonable timeframe for developing and updating the recruitment plan on an ongoing basis?
- What resources are available to implement the recruitment plan?
- How will the plan's effectiveness be reviewed and measured?

## **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE POLICY**

## **Recruitment Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that there be ongoing recruitment activities for new mentors. As such, an Annual Recruitment Plan will be developed and will include recruitment goals, strategies to achieve those goals, an annual timeline, and budgetary implications. This plan will be kept current with any ongoing adjustments. Additionally, a detailed Quarterly Recruitment Activity Plan will outline specific tasks and activities.

The program coordinator assumes lead responsibility for the recruitment of new mentors. Other mentoring program staff, the executive director, and advisory board members will support the program coordinator in these activities as required.

## **Inquiry Policy**

This policy provides program staff with clear direction on how to handle inquiries from potential mentors and mentees and their parents, including what initial information to provide them. The inquiry policy has two important functions: ensuring the mentoring program staff provides excellent customer service to potential program participants; and serving as an early screening tool for those participants who wish to continue in the process of becoming a mentor.

At this stage, an overview of the program, key requirements of participation, and highlights of the screening procedure are provided, and it is determined if there is initial interest in participating in the program. If interested, inquiring participants are given an application packet and invited to attend an orientation session (see the inquiry procedure in the next section for more details).

#### **Key Development Questions:**

- How are mentor and mentee inquiries processed in your program?
- What structure needs to be in place to handle inquiries?
- Who handles inquiries for your program? Are they provided with training for handling inquiries?
- What is a reasonable response time to inquiries by potential mentors?
- What information should be given to prospective participants during their initial contact with the program?
- Are your program participants required to attend an orientation session prior to going through the screening process?

## **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE POLICY**

## **Inquiry Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that all inquiries regarding participation in the mentoring program are responded to within one business day.

Superb public relations and customer service must be provided to all potential program participants at all times, from first contact throughout the screening process and beyond, regardless of the final screening outcome. All program staff handling calls from prospective mentors must be patient, courteous, and respectful in all interactions.

A system, including backup support and staff training, must be in place to ensure this policy is enforced.

Confidentiality for all potential participants will be upheld from this initial point of contact forward.

## **Eligibility Policy**

An eligibility policy defines the minimum and preferred criteria necessary for a candidate to become a mentor or mentee. Having clear eligibility requirements and a comprehensive set of criteria that each candidate must meet for initial or continued participation helps your program:

- Operate more efficiently
- Ensure greater consistency and stability
- Better accomplish program goals
- Reduce agency/program risk

In developing this policy, your program should carefully define what qualifying criteria, training, and compliance are necessary for mentors and mentees that will ensure the safety of participants and the success of your program.

Additionally, your policy should indicate if there can be any extenuating circumstances in meeting the eligibility criteria.

## **Key Development Questions:**

- What types of mentors and mentees are you targeting for your program (i.e., age, gender, race, ethnicity, interests, or particular personal issues)?
- What requirements or *eligibility criteria* are necessary for a candidate to become a mentor or mentee? These requirements may include, but are not limited to, the following:
  - Committing to meet for a specific number of hours per month
  - Agreeing to sustain the relationship for a certain length of time
  - Consenting to and completing the screening process
  - Attending orientation and training sessions
  - Communicating regularly and openly with the program coordinator
- What factors would disqualify a candidate mentor or mentee from participation or continuance in the program?

## NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE POLICY

## **Egilibility Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that each participant must meet the defined eligibility criteria. Mentoring staff should be knowledgeable of and understand all eligibility criteria required for mentor and mentee participation in the program.

Extenuating circumstances may be reviewed at the discretion of the program coordinator and acceptance may then be allowed with the written approval of the executive director and representative of the board of directors when all eligibility requirements are not clearly met. These instances are expected to be rare.

## **Mentor Eligibility Requirements:**

- Be at least 21 years of age
- Reside in the Winwood Heights metropolitan area
- Be willing to adhere to all New Insights Mentoring Program policies and procedures
- Agree to a one-year commitment to the program
- Commit to spending a minimum of eight hours a month with the mentee
- Be willing to communicate with the mentee weekly
- Complete the screening procedure
- Agree to attend mentor trainings as required
- Be willing to communicate regularly with the program coordinator and submit monthly meeting and activity information
- Have access to an automobile or reliable transportation
- Have a current driver's license, auto insurance, and good driving record
- Have a clean criminal history
- Have never been accused, arrested, charged, or convicted of child abuse or molestation
- Not be a convicted felon. If the applicant has been convicted of a felony then they may be considered only after a period of seven years with demonstrated good behavior and an appropriate and corrective attitude regarding past behaviors.
- Not be a user of illicit drugs

#### Eligibility Policy, page 2 of 2

- Not use alcohol or controlled substances in an excessive or inappropriate manner
- Not be currently in treatment for substance abuse. If a substance abuse problem has occurred in the past the applicant must have completed a nonaddictive period of at least five years
- Not currently be under treatment for a mental disorder or have been hospitalized for a mental disorder in the past three years
- Not have falsified information during the course of the screening process

## Mentee Eligibility Requirements:

- Be II-I8 years old
- Reside in the Winwood Heights metropolitan area
- Demonstrate a desire to participate in the program and be willing to abide by all New Insight Mentoring Program policies and procedures
- Be able to obtain parental/guardian permission and ongoing support for participation in the program
- Agree to a one-year commitment to the program
- Commit to spending a minimum of eight hours a month with the mentor
- Be willing to communicate with the mentor weekly
- Complete screening procedure
- Agree to attend mentee trainings as required
- Be willing to communicate regularly with the program coordinator and discuss monthly meeting and activity information


# **Screening Policy**

A screening policy is a fundamental part of risk management, a cornerstone to the success of your program, and the foundation of your screening procedure (the steps you take to actually screen applicants). A mentor screening policy establishes a non-negotiable requirement that all applicants must complete your established screening procedure prior to being approved for participation in the program. The screening policy provides clear requirements for program staff for how they must screen potential mentors and youth participants.

Before drafting your screening policy, you should consider what screening procedures will be necessary to address liability issues specific to your program and to ensure the safety and well-being of program participants.

Your policy should state what minimal steps are required in the respective mentor and mentee screening procedures. It should also stipulate which person(s) are authorized to make the final decision about acceptance of mentors and mentees into your program. If extenuating circumstances are allowed regarding the eligibility requirements, it should provide guidance about any additional approvals or screening steps required before accepting an applicant.

Finally, this policy should also include guidance about what to tell applicants when a final decision has been made about their eligibility, especially if the applicant has been rejected.

- What are the potential risks and liabilities associated with recruiting volunteers to work with youth?
- What are the minimal procedures your program staff must follow to ensure that prospective participants are effectively screened?
- How do you ensure your staff is knowledgeable about this policy and will follow the formal screening procedures for all participants?
- Who makes the final acceptance or rejection decisions for program participants?
- How are extenuating circumstances dealt with, if allowed at all?
- What information is given to rejected applicants as to the reason for your decision?

# **Screening Policy**

Board Approval Date:

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that each mentor and mentee applicant completes a screening procedure. All staff members must be trained and required to carefully follow the screening procedures.

At minimum, the following screening procedures are required for mentor and mentee applicants. Program staff must ensure that each applicant completes these established minimum screening procedures:

## **Mentor Screening Procedures:**

- Attend the two-hour mentor training
- Complete written application
- Check driving record and gain copy of current insurance coverage
- Check criminal history: state criminal history, child abuse registry, sexual offender registry. Same checks must be performed in all states resided in as an adult.
- Provide three personal references
- Complete personal interview

## **Mentee Screening Procedures**

- Attend the two-hour mentee training
- Complete written application
- Obtain parent/guardian consent
- Complete personal (mentee) interview

The decision to accept an applicant into the program will be based upon a final assessment done by program staff at the completion of the mentor or mentee screening procedure. The program coordinator has final approval for an applicant's acceptance into the program. No reason will be provided to mentor applicants rejected from participation in the program.

All mentors are expected to meet the eligibility criteria. However, extenuating circumstances may be reviewed at the discretion of the program coordinator and acceptance may then be allowed with written approval of the executive director and representative of the board of directors when all eligibility requirements are not clearly met. These instances are expected to be rare.

Documentation of the screening process must be maintained for each applicant and placed in confidential files.

# **Training Policy**

A training policy defines what training is required for your mentors and mentees. A training policy is important because it stipulates that training is mandatory, and a key ingredient of the success of the mentoring relationship and program overall. Without mandatory requirements for mentor and/or mentee training, programs are at a greater risk for having mentoring relationships terminate early or fail, which can be detrimental to your mentees and mentors and to the overall reputation of your program.

- When in the application process should mentors/mentees receive training?
- How long should the initial training be for each group?
- Are there any critical areas that must be covered in each mentor training session? In each mentee training session?
- Will there be follow-up training sessions offered for mentors/ mentees? If so, will they be required or optional and how often will they be offered?
- Who will plan for and conduct the training sessions?
- How will training be evaluated?

# **Training Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that all mentors and mentees attend a minimum two-hour initial training session prior to being matched. The agendas must cover basic program guidelines, safety issues (including mandatory reporting), and communication/relationship building skills.

Each mentor and mentee will attend an additional two-hour inservice training session at least twice per year. These inservice sessions will be offered to each group at least quarterly.

It is the responsibility of the program coordinator to plan, develop, and deliver all training sessions with assistance from other agency staff, board members, and volunteers. Evaluation forms will be collected from each training session for the purposes of evaluating/improving the content of the trainings and trainer performance.

# **Matching Policy**

A matching policy gives clear direction on how to create a match and what constitutes an acceptable match within the framework of the program. A matching policy should promote match longevity by specifying the match criteria best utilized to make a successful relationship. It also reduces program risk by clearly stating which types of matches are unacceptable.

- What information does your program coordinator need to determine a match?
- What criteria do you use in matching?
- Do you have a defined matching procedure?
- Are there any circumstances in which your program would not allow a match between a mentor and a youth (i.e., matching male mentors with female mentees)?
- How do the steps in your matching procedure help reduce the incidence of early closure?
- What role do parents/guardians play in making or approving the match?

## **Matching Policy**

Board Approval Date:

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that the program coordinator will follow the guidelines outlined in the match procedure prior to creating a mentor/mentee match. The program coordinator should use the factors outlined in the matching procedure to determine the suitability of a mentor/mentee match.

The program coordinator will determine the suitability based on the following criteria:

- Preferences of the mentor, mentee, and/or parent/guardian
- Similar gender/ethnicity
- Common interests
- Geographic proximity
- Similar personalities

Matches must be either male adult to male youth or female adult to female youth. In special circumstances and with board or director approval, it is acceptable for female mentors to be matched with male youth. It is never acceptable for male mentors to be matched with female youth.

# Match Support and Supervision Policy

A match support and supervision policy gives guidance to program staff about how to supervise the match once established. This policy should promote match longevity and successful outcomes of each match. It should also reinforce the importance of mentoring staff to actively listen, evaluate, and problem solve to maximize match success.

- What are the key objectives in checking in with and providing supervision and support to matches?
- Which participants in the program should be contacted and how often?
- What information is important to gather about the progress of the match?
- What is the role of program staff in addressing concerns and/or resolving problems in the match relationship?
- What responsibilities do participants have regarding check-ins and supervision tasks?

# **Match Support and Supervision Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that mentoring staff will make monthly phone or personal contact with all parties to each match including the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian. Staff must gather information for that month including the dates and times spent participating in mentoring activities and a description of those activities, and assess the success of the match from all party's perspectives. In the case of match difficulties, discord, or concerns, appropriate discussion and intervention must be undertaken to improve or rectify problem areas.

Mentoring program staff must follow the steps outlined in the Match Support and Supervision Procedure. Beyond monitoring the match relationship and activities, program staff must undertake other efforts that support participants, such as regular group activities for matches, ongoing training events, a formal support structure for mentors, and the attainment of admission to community events/ activities for match participants.

# **Recognition Policy**

A recognition policy reinforces that program participants, especially volunteer mentors, are vital to the success of your mentoring program. This policy provides direction about the minimum recognition efforts that should be undertaken, when, and by whom.

- What are the values of the organization in regard to participant recognition and appreciation?
- Which participants should be recognized and why?
- What types of things should participants be recognized for?
- Who should be involved in determining recognition activities and in implementing those activities?

## **Recognition Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that all participants including mentors, mentees, and parents/guardians—be recognized as important to the success of the mentoring program. Particular emphasis will be placed upon recognizing the program's volunteer mentors.

It is the responsibility of the program coordinator to, at minimum, plan and implement the following recognition activities:

- Host an annual recognition event including selection of a mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian of the year along with other outstanding service or performance acknowledgments
- Feature a mentor, mentee, parent/guardian, or general match success story in each quarterly newsletter
- Establish a mentor recognition award system for length of service
- Utilize outstanding mentors to help deliver orientation and training sessions for the recruitment and matching of new mentors.

# **Record-Keeping Policy**

A record-keeping policy defines who is responsible for keeping records of mentor and mentee applicants and describes the type of filing system necessary to maintain and update these records.

A record-keeping policy is important because it provides clear direction to the coordinator on how to document and store records of the screening and matching process. A record-keeping policy helps reduce program liability by ensuring that all information is kept confidential and is treated consistently, and it helps increase program effectiveness by providing a system for efficiently tracking applicants and monitoring matches. The record-keeping policy should also outline how and when information is to be destroyed.

- Who is responsible for creating and maintaining program records?
- What types of information should be documented?
- Do you have specific forms for tracking applicants and monitoring matches?
- Do you have a system in place for maintaining secure and confidential records of active program participants?
- Do you have a secure and confidential archival system for maintaining records of past program participants?
- When and how do you destroy records?
- Are electronic data stored securely and backed up periodically? If so, by whom and how often?

# **Record-Keeping Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that each step of the mentoring application and match process be documented by creating a case file for each potential mentor and mentee. All forms for managing mentor and mentee case files are included within the procedures section of this manual.

All records are to be kept confidential and are to be covered by the conditions outlined in the confidentiality policy. Archival records or those records of past applicants and participants will be maintained and kept confidential for a period of seven years after the close of their participation in the program. After seven years, the records will be shredded and discarded with approval from the executive director and destroyed only by approved individuals.

The program coordinator must keep stringent records of all program activities, utilizing approved forms. All files should be regularly maintained and updated within an electronic database and/or hard copy filing system.

The creation of new forms or the revision of existing forms must be documented and kept within the policy and procedure manual.

# **Confidentiality Policy**

A confidentiality policy clearly states what information must be kept confidential, who has access to confidential information, how this information will be used for the purposes of your program, how it will be kept confidential, and the limits of this confidentiality. Federal and state laws govern accessibility to confidential information, making a confidentiality policy an important part of risk management.

This policy is important because it defines the circumstances in which information can be released. It is crucial that all those working with your organization are aware of this policy and strictly adhere to it in order to protect the privacy and rights of all those involved. In drafting this policy, it is important to consult with your board, advisory committee, and/or legal counsel to ensure that your policy fulfills the level of risk management desired by your agency.

Channels and circumstances for release of information should be included within your policy and procedure manual and may include:

- Information release forms
- Image release clauses or forms
- Legal subpoena or for purposes of litigation
- Mandatory reporting requirements

- What records are confidential in the organization?
- Who has access to confidential records?
- How are records filed and kept confidential?
- What are the consequences to staff and program participants for violations of confidentiality?
- What are the federal and state laws pertaining to confidentiality?
- Under what circumstances and how may information be released to other parties?

# **Confidentiality Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program to protect the confidentiality of its participants and their families. With the exception of the limitations listed below, program staff will only share information about mentors, mentees, and their families with other New Insights professional staff and the Board of Directors. Further, all prospective mentors, mentees, and parents/guardians should be informed of the scope and limitations of confidentiality by program staff. Additionally, mentors are required to keep information about their mentee and his/her family confidential.

In order for New Insights to provide a responsible and professional service to participants, it is necessary to ask mentors, mentees, parents/guardians, and other outside sources to divulge extensive personal information about the prospective participants and their families, including:

- Information gained from mentors and mentees, written or otherwise, about themselves and/or their families, in application to and during program participation
- Participants' names and images gained from participants themselves, program meetings, training sessions, and other events
- Information gained about participants from outside sources including confidential references, school staff, employers

Records are, therefore, considered the property of the agency, not the agency workers, and are not available for review by mentors, mentees, or parents/guardians.

## Limits of Confidentiality

Information from mentor and mentee records may be shared with individuals or organizations as specified below under the following conditions:

- Information may be gathered about program participants and shared with other participants, individuals, or organizations only upon receipt of signed "release" forms from mentors, mentees, or parents/guardians.
- Identifying information (including names, photographs, videos, etc.) of program participants may be used in agency publications or promotional materials only upon written consent of the mentor, mentee, and/or parent/guardian.
- Members of the Board of Directors have access to participant files only upon authorization by a formal motion of the board. The motion shall identify the

#### Confidentiality Policy, page 2 of 3

person(s) to be authorized to review such records, the specific purpose for such review, and the period of time during which access shall be granted. Such members of the board granted access shall be required to comply with the agency policies on confidentiality and may use the information only for purposes stated by the approved action of the Board of Directors. Known violations shall be reported to the Board chairman. A violation of the agency's confidentiality policy by a Board member shall constitute adequate cause for removal from the Board.

- Information may only be provided to law enforcement officials or the courts pursuant to a valid and enforceable subpoena.
- Information may be provided to legal counsel in the event of litigation or potential litigation involving the agency. Such information is considered privileged information, and its confidentiality is protected by law.
- Program staff and volunteers are mandatory reporters and as such must disclose information indicating that a mentor or mentee may be dangerous to or intends to harm him/herself or others.
- If program staff members receive information at any point in the match process that a volunteer is using illegal substances, there is a criminal history of any kind, or is inappropriately using alcohol or other controlled substances, the information will be shared with the parent and they will have the option to reject the prospective mentor or close the existing match.
- At the time a mentor or mentee is considered as a match candidate, information is shared between the prospective match parties. However, the full identity of the prospective match mate shall not be revealed at this stage. Names and addresses are shared with match mates only after the involved parties have met and agree to be formally matched. Each party shall have the right to refuse the proposed match based on the anonymous information provided to them. The information to be shared may include:
  - Mentors: age, sex, race, religion, interests, hobbies, employment, marriage or family status, sexual preference, living situation, reasons for applying to the program, and a summary of why the individual was chosen for the particular match. Results of driving records and criminal histories may also be shared.
  - Mentees: age, sex, race, religion, interests, hobbies, family situation, living situation, a summary of the client needs assessment, and expectations for match participation.

#### Confidentiality Policy, page 3 of 3

### **Safekeeping of Confidential Records**

The executive director is considered the custodian of confidential records. It is his/ her responsibility to supervise the management of confidential information in order to ensure safekeeping, accuracy, accountability, and compliance with Board policies.

### **Requesting Confidential Information From Other Agencies**

A mentee's or volunteer's right to privacy shall be respected by the agency. Requests for confidential information from other organizations or persons shall be accompanied by a signed release from the mentor, mentee, and/or parent/guardian.

## **Violations of Confidentiality**

A known violation of the agency policy on confidentiality by a program participant may result in a written warning or disciplinary action such as suspension or termination from the program.



# **Transportation Policy**

A transportation policy states whether or not it is permissible for youth to be transported off site within the community, and if so, the conditions that must be met by the mentor. A transportation policy helps minimize program risk by providing direction to program staff and participants concerning the rules and requirements for transporting mentees in the community. In developing your policy, it is important to consider the questions below and consult with your insurance provider, legal counsel, and board of directors and/or advisory committee.

#### **Key Development Questions:**

- Does your program allow mentors to transport mentees off-site and/or within the community at large?
- Does program staff understand the potential liabilities associated with transporting mentees?
- Does your policy provide clear direction to staff concerning the transportation of mentees?
- What criteria does your program use to screen a volunteer's driving record?
- Does your program require proof of automobile insurance?
- Does your program require the mentee's parent to sign a transportation waiver? If so, are waivers or permission slips required for each trip?
- What other criteria, such as destination/duration of trips or rules of conduct will have an impact on the content of your policy?

# Tip for School-Based Programs

Your school or district likely already has a transportation already has a transportation policy and accompanying forms and paperwork for parents that your paperwork for parents that your program could use or modify. Make program could use or mo

## **Transportation Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program to allow mentors to transport mentees in their own private vehicles. The program coordinator must ensure that all mentors meet the following criteria prior to transporting the mentee:

- All mentors must own a car or have access to reliable insured transportation; all safety equipment including blinkers, lights, brake and back-up lights, seat belts, tires, and brakes must be in good operating condition.
- All mentors must possess a valid driver's license and present proof of auto insurance; a record of insurance will be maintained in the mentor's file and will be updated on an annual basis.
- All mentors must undergo a driving record check and have a clean driving record for the last three years.
- New Insights requires that mentors obey all traffic laws, and use seat belts and headlights at all times.
- Mentors must also avoid taking medication or using any other substances that might impair their ability to drive.
- If an accident occurs while the mentor is engaged in mentoring, it should be reported to the program coordinator promptly.
- The mentor must carry a copy of the mentee's health insurance information in the transporting automobile at all times in case of emergency.

If any of the above policy is not followed, the mentor will not be allowed to transport the mentee in a private automobile or may face other consequences.

# Overnight Visits and Out-of-Town Travel Policy

This policy states whether or not overnight visits and/or out-of-town travel are permitted by your program. Overnight visits and out-oftown travel both pose additional risks to your program. This is due to engaging in extended visits, going greater distances from the school or community, and creating a more familiar and familial visitation environment. Increased risks include endangering the safety of either the youth or the mentor or violating the terms of your program's insurance policy.

All possible risks should be carefully considered before creating your policy, and the goals of your program, as well as input from key staff and your board of directors must be weighed on these issues. Additionally, you should seek the advice of legal counsel and your insurance professional. If your program does decide to allow overnight visits and out-of-town travel, it is crucial to define parameters and create a detailed procedure to monitor and document all such visits and travel.

- What are the risks associated with allowing overnight visits and out-of-town travel?
- Does your insurance policy cover out-of-town travel and overnight visits?
- If you allow either or both overnight visits and out-of-town travel, what conditions do you impose on the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian?
- Does your program require that a pair be matched for a certain amount of time before either out-of-town travel or overnight visits are permitted?
- Do you have a procedure for overnight visits and out-of-town travel?

# **Overnight Visits and Out-of-Town Travel Policy**

Board Approval Date:

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program to encourage mentor/mentee visits within their own community and limit overnight visits. However, overnight visits and out-of-town trips are permitted under the following conditions:

- Overnight visits and out-of-town travel are only permitted after six months participation with a match.
  - Between six months and one year, overnight visits and out-of-town travel may occur only with approval from both the program coordinator and parent/guardian. Out-of-town travel may occur only with the accompaniment of the parent/guardian or other person designated by the parent/guardian.
  - After one year, both overnight visits and out-of-town travel may occur with permission of the parent only, and the mentee and mentor may travel alone out of town with parental permission. All parties must report all such occurrences during their monthly contact with mentoring staff, the nature of the activity, and the purpose.
- For any and all admissible out-of-town travel, the parent/guardian must write and sign a permission slip stipulating:
  - Their child is permitted to travel with the mentor to the predetermined destination, specifying names and the location(s) being traveled to.
  - Permission for medical treatment in the case of a medical emergency.
- For any and all admissible out-of-town travel, the mentor must write out or type a detailed itinerary of the trip, and provide this to the parent/guardian prior to leaving, and include the following:
  - The destination(s)
  - Phone numbers of their cell phone (optional), places being visited, and lodging
  - Times and dates of departure and arrival at each location being visited
  - Expected time of return
- For out-of-town trips of more than one day's duration, the mentor must check in with the parent/guardian daily by phone, if possible.
- During permissible out-of-town travel, the mentor should review and abide by all terms outlined in the transportation policy.

# Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Policy

A mandatory reporting of child abuse and neglect policy defines what constitutes child abuse and neglect, mandates staff training in this area, and provides instruction to staff on how to report a case of suspected child abuse and neglect. Developing a mandatory reporting of child abuse and neglect policy is an important part of program risk management. All 50 states have passed some form of mandatory child abuse and neglect reporting and it is critical for your agency to understand the reporting requirements as defined by your state. Most state's definitions of child abuse and neglect will cover what constitutes physical abuse, neglect, sexual abuse, sexual exploitation, emotional or mental injury, and abandonment.

For more information, contact the Child Welfare Information Gateway at: http://www.childwelfare.gov/ or 1-800-394-3366.

Individuals typically designated as mandatory reporters have frequent contact with children including health care workers, school personnel, day-care providers, social workers, law enforcement officers, and mental health professionals. Many states have clauses for "privileged communications" or exceptions to reporting. Programs must check their individual state laws. Mandatory reporting by mentors may or may not be required by your state. If they are required, procedures for mentor reporting within your program must be developed and adhered to.

It is imperative that your staff and program participants know what constitutes child abuse and neglect, receive training, and know what to do if such a case arises, including when it is not a recent occurrence. It is important to consult with your legal counsel to ensure your policy is accurate and complete.

- Does your staff know the state and federal laws concerning the definition of and mandatory reporting requirements of child abuse and neglect?
- Have your staff and program participants received training on what constitutes child abuse and neglect, and when it is mandatory to report it, and to whom?
- Do your staff and program participants know how to report cases of child abuse and neglect?
- What steps will be taken if a staff member or mentor is accused of child abuse or neglect?

# Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Policy

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that all staff, mentors, and other representatives of the program must report any suspected child abuse and/or neglect of agency clients or program participants immediately. All such suspected reports must be made to appropriate state and/or local authorities. Program staff must follow the mandatory reporting of child abuse and neglect procedure.

All employees, volunteers, and mentors of the New Insights Mentoring Program are required to undergo training as to what constitutes child abuse and neglect, what the state statutes are, and how to properly report such cases.

Any staff, volunteers, or mentors accused of child abuse or neglect will be investigated by the agency. Contact with program youth will be restricted or constrained and/or the person in question suspended from employment or program participation per the decision of the executive director and board of directors until such investigation is concluded.

# Tip for School-Based Programs

Your school or district should have policies already in place about mandatory reporting as defined by state law. The school should also be able to provide information or training to your mentors on mandatory training requirements and processes.

# Use of Alcohol, Drugs, Tobacco, and Firearms Policy

An alcohol, drug, tobacco, and firearm policy defines whether or not your program permits the use of alcohol, drugs, tobacco, or firearms while participants are engaged in mentoring. This policy is important because it can help minimize program risk by providing staff and program participants with clear direction concerning the use of alcohol, drugs, tobacco, and firearms. This policy reflects the values of your agency and should promote a healthful and safe environment that will support positive youth development.

When drafting this policy it is important to consider state and federal laws and the mission and values of your program. The contents of your policy may differ according to the scope of your program and its setting. Be sure to review this policy with your staff and volunteers to ensure that it is well understood and followed by all participants in your mentoring program. It is important to consider the questions below and consult with your board/advisory, committee, and legal counsel when drafting this policy for your program.

- Under what circumstances, if any, would you allow the mentor to drink and/or be in a place where alcohol is being served while engaged in the mentoring relationship?
- Have you reviewed the laws about the use of illegal drugs with staff and the participants in your program?
- What are the state laws concerning the use of tobacco by minors, the use of tobacco indoors, and other restrictions concerning tobacco?
- Does your program allow mentors/mentees to use tobacco while engaged in mentoring?
- Does your organization currently have a tobacco use policy that includes a definition of tobacco products?
- What are the state and federal laws concerning carrying a weapon?
- Under what circumstances, if any, would you allow a mentor to legally carry a firearm, use fireworks, or be in possession of hazardous chemicals while engaged in mentoring?
- Does your program allow hunting or going to a firing range as an appropriate mentoring activity?

- Does your program wish to discourage youth from carrying or using firearms?
- How will violations of this policy be reported and managed?

# Use of Alcohol, Drugs, Tobacco, and Firearms Policy

Board Approval Date:

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program to prohibit and discourage the use of drugs, alcohol, and firearms. Mentees and mentors are prohibited from using drugs or alcohol or possessing firearms while engaged in the mentoring relationship. Any suspected violations should be reported to the program coordinator.

**Alcoholic Beverages.** No participant of the New Insights Mentoring Program will possess or consume beer, wine, or other alcoholic beverages while actively engaged or prior to actively engaging in mentoring, nor shall any participant endorse the use of alcohol. Mentors and mentees may go to a location where minors are allowed and alcohol is served provided that the mentor and youth do not consume any alcohol.

**Drugs.** No participant of the New Insights Mentoring Program will manufacture, possess, distribute, or use any illegal substance while engaged in mentoring \_\_\_\_\_ or otherwise.

**Tobacco.** The intent of New Insights is to create a smoke- and tobacco-free environment. To that end, smoking and the use of all tobacco products is prohibited on the premises of New Insights and those involved with the program must refrain from the use of such products while engaged in mentoring. The use of tobacco products includes but is not limited to cigarettes, cigars, pipes, chewing tobacco, snuff, or other matters or substances that contain tobacco.

## Weapons, Firearms, and Other Dangerous Mate-

**rials.** The possession or use of firearms, firecrackers, explosives, toxic or dangerous chemicals, or other lethal weapons, equipment, or material while participating in mentoring activities is strictly prohibited.

Any violation of this policy will result in the immediate suspension and/or termination of the mentoring relationship. In addition, violations of this policy may result in notification being given to legal authorities that may result in arrest or legal action, and may be punishable by fine and/or imprisonment.

# Tip for School-Based Programs

Baseu Your school or district likely has a "zero tolerance" policy that your mentoring program could use or adapt as needed. Some of these zero tolerance behaviors may also be covered as part of an Unacceptable Behavior policy (see the following pages).

## **Unacceptable Behavior Policy**

An unacceptable behavior policy defines behaviors that are deemed inappropriate and unacceptable by mentors and mentees while participating in your program. It is an important policy because it helps ensure the safety and well-being of your participants. By requiring mentors and mentees to be on their best behavior, you are supporting best practices that will aid your program's success.

Program participants must clearly understand this policy and that there are consequences for noncompliance with this policy.

- How will your agency/program determine what constitutes unacceptable behavior?
- Who will define and determine which behaviors will be listed within this policy?
- How will you ensure that staff and program participants clearly understand this policy?
- What are the consequences for engaging in these behaviors?

## **Unacceptable Behavior Policy**

Board Approval Date:

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that unacceptable behaviors will not be tolerated on the part of mentors or mentees while participating in the program. This policy is in addition to behavioral requirements stipulated in other policies or procedures within this manual. This policy in no way is intended to replace or take precedence over other policies or procedures including, but not limited to, the following:

- Confidentiality Policy
- Transportation Policy
- Overnight Visits and Out-of-Town Travel Policy
- Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Policy
- Use of Alcohol, Drugs, Tobacco, and Firearms Policy

A number of behaviors are regarded as incompatible with New Insights Mentoring Program goals, values, and program standards and therefore are considered unacceptable and prohibited while participants are engaged in mentoring activities:

- Unwelcome physical contact, such as inappropriate touching, patting, pinching, punching, and physical assault
- Unwelcome physical, verbal, visual, or behavioral mannerisms or conduct that denigrates, shows hostility, or aversion toward any individual
- Demeaning or exploitive behavior of either a sexual or nonsexual nature, including threats of such behavior
- Display of demeaning, suggestive, or pornographic material
- Known sexual abuse or neglect of a child
- Denigration, public or private, of any mentee parent/guardian or family member
- Denigration, public or private, of political or religious institutions or their leaders
- Intentional violation of any local, state, or federal law
- Drinking while driving under the influence of alcohol
- Possession of illegal substances

Any unacceptable behavior, as specified but not limited to the above, will result in a warning and/or disciplinary action including suspension or termination from participation in the mentoring program.

# **Closure Policy**

A closure policy provides guidelines to your staff concerning what circumstances lead to ending a mentoring relationship and how to proceed when match closure is necessary. It is a crucial policy to include within your policies and procedures manual. While ending a relationship can be difficult for both the mentor and mentee, it is a fact that happens in almost all mentoring relationships and it needs to be handled with care.

Many mentees have experienced significant parent/family instability and losses and may already have low self-esteem. If closure, especially early closure, is not handled sensitively for the youth, it can have a negative and lasting impact beyond the benefits gained during participation in the mentoring program.

A closure policy should also address the issue of future contact beyond the formal match duration. Addressing future contact regulates and provides context for future interactions between the mentor, mentee, and mentee's parent/guardian and reduces liability by informing all parties that future contact is outside the scope and responsibility of the program. Thus, it is important from a risk management perspective to clearly stipulate and communicate to all participants the program's limits of liability beyond match closure.

The importance of handling closure well should be covered in your mentor training curriculum, prior to being matched. Actively participating in the closure process should be stressed upfront with mentors, even if life circumstances or match relationship difficulties make it tempting to skim or skip over this critical step.

- Under what circumstances is closure likely to occur?
- What are the roles of the coordinator, mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian?
- What future contact is allowed and what are the liabilities in considering this?
- How do you determine if a mentor or mentee can be reassigned a match?
- What services and suggestions will be offered to participants as their match ends?
- How will you help mentees define and achieve future goals?
- Is your program coordinator expected to monitor and support matches beyond the defined mentoring time frame?

## **Closure Policy**

Board Approval Date: \_

Revision Date:

It is the policy of the New Insight Mentoring Program that all mentors and mentees must participate in closure procedures when their match ends. Closure is defined as the ending of a formal match relationship regardless of the circumstances of the match ending or whether they intend to have future contact informally beyond the match duration. While no party is expected to continue the relationship beyond the formal end of a match, matches may continue in the program beyond the contract period (one year for New Insights matches) and receive ongoing support and supervision.

Closure can occur for any number of reasons including: the contracted match duration has ended, one or both participants do not want to continue the match, there are changes in life circumstances of either the mentor or mentee, or an individual no longer meets the requirements for program participation. Hence, the match may end at the discretion of the mentor, mentee, parent/guardian, and/or program coordinator. It is left to the discretion of the program coordinator whether an individual will be reassigned to another match in the future based upon past participation performance and current goals and needs of the program.

Future contact will be at the mutual and informal agreement of the mentor, the mentee, and the parent/guardian. If future contact is agreed upon, the New Insights Mentoring Program will not be responsible for monitoring and supporting the match after the match has ended. The coordinator will verbally and in writing inform all parties—the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian—that the formal match has ended and that New Insights will not be liable for any incidents that occur after the match has closed.

# **Evaluation Policy**

An evaluation policy stipulates that your program will engage in formal evaluation procedures and includes evaluation criteria to be measured, how often and by whom, and how and to whom they are reported. Evaluation is critical for measuring your program's effectiveness and providing information that can improve program services.

- What are the measurable goals and objectives of your program?
- What criteria will you measure to assess success in achieving these goals and objectives?
- What provisions have you made to measure your program's effectiveness?
- What data will be collected, when, and by whom?
- How often will data be tabulated, summarized, and reported?

## **Evaluation Policy**

Board Approval Date:

**Revision Date:** 

It is the policy of the New Insights Mentoring Program that evaluation will be a key component in measuring the success of its mentoring program and for making continuous improvements in the effectiveness and delivery of mentoring services.

Evaluation data will be collected every six months for mentees in the program, including the following general measures: youth self-esteem, academic performance, peer and parent relationships, moods, alcohol and substance use, and sexual activity.

New Insights program staff will be responsible for evaluation efforts, and will oversee the contract with Winwood Community College to implement actual evaluation activities.

# Tip for School-Based Programs This policy might also include roles and responsibilities for securing and using student data maintained by the school, district, or state department of education. It might also refer to existing agreements with

accessed.

outside evaluation providers, including what information is to be shared with them and how that information is Blank page

# Section III. Program Procedures

Aving solid procedures in place for all major program activities will enhance program effectiveness, longevity, and risk management. Procedures should be brief, yet detailed enough to provide consistent guidance and direction for all program staff. Your formal procedures should mirror your program policies while outlining the basic steps and sequence of each program activity. Procedures can also be supported by accompanying forms, checklists, and/or other structured tools that can help staff conduct program activities.

The procedures listed below represent widespread mentoring program practices. Most, if not all, will apply to your mentoring program, regardless of setting. Based on your program's structure, population served, and community affiliations, you may need to add or delete procedures accordingly. As with all the examples in this workbook, we recommend that you adjust and modify these procedures to meet the requirements of your specific mentoring program.

*Note:* Many of the procedures in this section mention paper "case files" that are kept about each volunteer, youth, and match. These procedures will need to be modified if you are using databases or other electronic record-keeping systems.



### What to include in this section:

- Recruitment Procedure
- Inquiry Procedure
- Mentor Screening Procedure
- Mentee Screening Procedure
- Training Procedure
- Matching Procedure
- Match Support and Supervision Procedure
- Recognition Procedure
- Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Procedure
- Closure Procedure
- Evaluation Procedure

## **Recruitment Procedure**

Recruitment is an essential part of your mentoring program, but there are often challenges associated with recruiting volunteers. A clearly written recruitment procedure, supported by a mentor job description and written recruitment plan, will provide direction and focus for your recruiting efforts. A recruitment procedure defines how your organization goes about recruiting and includes the major activities as well as your agency's process for monitoring the results of your effectiveness.

Your recruitment *plan* should complement and expand on this procedure by detailing specific activities over time. A good plan organizes all of your recruitment work (including related activities such as marketing and public relations) into one document, making it easier to track progress and assess strategies over time. The elements of an effective recruitment plan include:

- Measurable objectives
- Service (or volunteer opportunity) being provided
- Target audience, i.e., who you are seeking to recruit
- Positioning statement and/or key message statement ("tag line")
- Production schedule of your brochures and flyers, multimedia presentations, and other recruitment materials
- Promotional activities you are going to conduct
- Distribution and dissemination of your recruitment materials
- Timeline of activities, including assignment of responsibilities

#### What to include in this section:

- Recruitment Procedure
- Accompanying Forms
  - Mentor Job Description
  - Annual Recruitment Plan
  - Annual Recruitment Plan Timeline
  - Quarterly Recruitment Activity Plan

## **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE**

## **Recruitment Procedure**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date:

- 1. All new staff members receive training on the principles of volunteer recruitment and are required to understand the mentoring program's recruitment plan.
- 2. The program coordinator will take the lead in developing the Annual Recruitment Plan with input from mentoring program staff, the executive director, and advisory board. Planning should be finalized, including agency and board approvals, one month prior to the beginning of the new fiscal year.
- 3. The program coordinator will complete a detailed Quarterly Recruitment Activity Plan of specific tasks, roles and responsibilities, and a week-by-week timeline, incorporating other staff, the executive director, and advisory board members to implement specific recruitment activities. This activity plan must be reviewed and approved by the executive director and/or advisory board prior to implementation.
- 4. The program coordinator is responsible for ensuring implementation of the Annual Recruitment and Quarterly Activity Plans.
- 5. Efforts will be made to hold a recruitment plan review and planning meeting quarterly prior to development of the next quarter's plan to include the program coordinator, full advisory board, and executive director, as well as other program staff or others of concern.
- 6. The program coordinator will finalize and distribute the quarterly recruitment activity plan to the agency staff and the board.
- 7. The program coordinator will summarize the Volunteer Inquiry Tracking log and provide the results to the executive director on a quarterly basis along with the number of successful matches.
- 8. The executive director will provide the yearly budget for recruitment and marketing activities. The program coordinator is responsible for tracking and monitoring expenditures.
- 9. Based on tracking data and the overall effectiveness of the recruiting efforts, staff will revise the strategy as needed.

# New Insights Mentoring Program Mentor Job Description

Updated January 31, 2003

The New Insights Mentoring Program of Winwood Heights helps to empower youth in our community to make positive life choices that enable them to maximize their potential. The mentoring program uses adult volunteers to commit to supporting, guiding, and being a friend to a young person for a period of at least one year. By becoming part of the social network of adults and community members who care about the youth, the mentor can help youth develop and reach positive academic, career, and personal goals.

### **Mentor Role**

- Take the lead in supporting a young person through an ongoing, one-to-one relationship
- Serve as a positive role model and friend
- Build the relationship by planning and participating in activities together
- Strive for mutual respect
- Build self-esteem and motivation
- Help set goals and work toward accomplishing them

### Time Commitment

- Make a one-year commitment
- Spend a minimum of eight hours per month one-to-one with a mentee
- Communicate with the mentee weekly
- Attend an initial two-hour training session and additional two-hour training sessions twice during each year of participation in the program
- Attend optional mentor/mentee group events, mentor support groups, and program recognition events

### **Participation Requirements**

- Be at least 21 years old
- Reside in Winwood Heights metro area
- Be interested in working with young people
- Be willing to adhere to all program policies and procedures
- Be willing to complete the application and screening process
- Be dependable and consistent in meeting the time commitments
- Attend mentor training sessions as prescribed
- Be willing to communicate regularly with program staff, submit activity information, and take constructive feedback regarding mentoring activities
- Have access to an automobile, auto insurance, and a good driving record
- Have a clean criminal history
- No use of illicit drugs
- No use of alcohol or controlled substances in an inappropriate manner
- Not currently in treatment for substance abuse and have a non-addictive period of at least five years
- Not currently in treatment for a mental disorder or hospitalized for such in the past three years

#### **Desirable Qualities**

- Willing listener
- Encouraging and supportive
- Patient and flexible
- Tolerant and respectful of individual differences

#### Benefits

- Personal fulfillment through contribution to the community and individuals
- Satisfaction in helping someone mature, progress, and achieve goals
- Training sessions and group activities
- Participation in a mentor support group
- Mileage and expenses are tax deductible
- Personal ongoing support, supervision to help the match succeed
- Mentee/mentor group activities, complimentary tickets to community events, participant recognition events

#### **Application and Screening Process**

- Written application
- Driving record check
- Criminal history check: state, child abuse and neglect registry, sexual offender registry
- Personal interview
- Provide three personal references
- Attend two-hour mentor training

For more information, contact the New Insights Mentoring program at 773-MENTORS or gmeanwell@newinsights.org.

Minorities and Women Encouraged To Apply

# **Annual Recruitment Plan**

Final January 1, 2008

### Recruitment Objective

Attract 25 new mentors matched with youth by December 31, 2008.

### **Target Audience**

Men and women in Winwood Heights metro area with an emphasis on increasing the number of male and minority mentors.

### **Positioning Statement or Core Communication Message**

To help a young person develop a positive vision for the future, be a mentor.

### **Promotional Materials**

- New Insights Mentoring Program brochure (tri-fold)
- Informational flyers
- Newsletter
- Press releases
- Generic news article (for newsletters, papers, and local magazines)
- Program presentation with overheads, notes, and handouts
- Web site development

### **Promotional Activities**

- Place brochure and flyer throughout the community (continuous)
- Display tables at local events (as available)
- Distribute newsletter (quarterly)
- Distribute press release and PSA to local media (quarterly)
- Make personal contact with key media and organization leaders (2–3 per month)
- Present to community organizations (1–2 times per month)
- Garner inquiries from Web site (online interest form) and e-mail (continuous)

### **Target Organizations**

- Local Colleges: Winwood Community College
- Local Businesses: Winwood Community Hospital, TechRider Electronics
- Professional Associations: Winwood Chamber of Commerce, Black Business Alliance N/NE Business Assoc., African American Ministerial Alliance, Winwood Rotary
- *Churches/Faith-Based Groups:* Save Ministries, Winwood Baptist Church, Greater Winwood Christian Faith Tabernacle
- Governmental Agencies: Police and Fire Departments

Recruitment Activity	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	June	July	Aug	Sept	Oct	Nov	Dec
Brochure and flyer placement	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
New Insights news- letter	•			•			•			•		
Display tables —local events (TBD)	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Press release/PSA distribution	•			•			•			•		
Personal contacts: 1–2 per mo.	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Organization presen- tations: 1–2 per mo.	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Web site/electronic solicitation	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Other												

### 2008 Annual Recruitment Plan Timeline

### **Quarterly Recruitment Activity Plan**

#### First Quarter, 2008

Activity	Date Complete	Person Responsible
Promotional Material Development		
Update Brochure – new copy, photos	1/31/08	Program coord.
Press Release/PSA – New Board president	2/1/08	Program coord.
Web Site Update - Add page for Board w/pictures	2/15/08	Program coord.
Write Newsletter – 2nd Quarter	3/25/08	Program coord.
Promotional Activities		
Inquiry Responses – Web, phone, e-mail	Daily	Program coord.
Mail Out First Quarter Newsletter	1/14/18	Office manager
Distribute Brochures, Flyers	Weekly	Program coord., Board members, other staff
Mentor Orientation Session, 7–9 pm	1/14/08	Program coord.
Display Table – Winwood Community College	1/20/08	Program coord.
Contact Rotary – Request to speak at Q2 meeting	1/31/08	Program coord.
Meeting/Presentation – Winwood Hospital	2/5/08	Board president, executive director
Mentor Orientation Session, 7–9 pm	2/11/08	Program coord.
Chamber Luncheon Speech	2/20/08	Board member, program coord.
Meeting/Presentation – Save Ministries	2/20/08	Executive director, program coord.
Mentor Orientation Session, 7–9 pm	3/11/08	Executive director, program coord.
Board Meeting Presentation	3/13/08	Program coord.
Radio Interview – KNEWS	4/2/08	Program coord.

# **Inquiry Procedure**

It is imperative to have a solid inquiry procedure that ensures all potential participants, especially volunteers, are responded to promptly and in a friendly manner. It is important for everyone in your organization to have clear instructions on how to answer inquiries and respond to them, either by providing the necessary information directly or by taking messages.

While the inquiry process may be seen as an opportunity to gather early candidate screening and matching information, it is primarily about recruitment, which means providing good public relations and customer service. This is true from the first phone call through the orientation session, all of which are part of the inquiry process. During this process, you want to present your program in the best possible light while also providing enough detail for prospective participants to decide whether they want to complete the full screening process.

Many mentoring programs require potential mentors and mentees to attend a formal group orientation session prior to completing the application and screening process. Informational orientation sessions are covered within this manual as part of the inquiry process, which occurs prior to beginning the screening process. Keep in mind that your program should also offer substantial preservice training for those who complete the inquiry and screening processes.

Finally, it is important to track inquiries over time, especially those from prospective volunteers. This provides information for evaluating your recruitment efforts.

#### What to include in this section:

- Inquiry Procedure
- Accompanying Forms
  - Mentor Orientation Session Outline
  - Mentee Orientation Session Outline
  - Volunteer Inquiry Tracking

### NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE

# **Inquiry Procedure**

Board Approval Date:

Revision Date: \_

All persons inquiring to be program participants or making referrals regarding potential mentees must speak directly to mentoring program staff. If program staff members are unavailable, other agency staff should courteously take a message and inform inquirers they will be contacted within a day. Program staff must follow the inquiry procedure as outlined below:

- 1. All prospective mentor inquiries will be recorded on the Volunteer Inquiry Tracking form, including how the person heard about the program.
- 2. All mentor and mentee inquiries regarding participation in the program must be answered within two business days.
- 3. Program staff provides a verbal overview of the program to all phone and inperson inquiries, adjusting the message to whether they are potential mentors or mentees:
  - Overview of program and program purpose
  - Time and duration commitments
  - Overview screening requirements
  - Training requirements
  - Next step is to attend an orientation session
- 4. All prospective participants requesting to learn more and/or wanting to attend an orientation session will receive the following materials in person or by mail:
  - Program brochure
  - Mentor job description (mentors only)
  - Application packet (mentor- or mentee-specific)
  - The times and dates of upcoming orientation sessions (mentor- or mentee-specific)
- 5. The Mentoring Program Coordinator must then hold separate one-hour mentor and mentee orientation sessions at least once a month to provide more detailed information about the program. Orientation sessions are held primarily to create interest among prospective participants and allay any concerns they may have about the program.
- 6. After prospective participants attend the orientation session and submit an application, the program coordinator may then complete the screening procedure for those who are interested and willing to make the required commitment.

## **Orientation Session Outlines**

#### **Mentor Orientation Session Outline** Session Title: Mentoring Is Powerful (and Fun)! This session would include materials to help you plan and deliver an introductory orientation session for prospective mentors inquiring about the program. The objectives of this session are intended to: Generate enthusiasm among prospective mentors. • Provide a basic understanding of the program and mentor roles and expectations Help mentors determine if they want to complete an application and continue • through the screening process Explore simple and effective approaches to mentoring An agenda for this one-hour informational session provides approximate times for each section and might include the following: 1. Icebreaker: Introductions (10 minutes) Conduct short, interactive activity that allows mentors to introduce themselves to a partner, to a small group, and then to the entire group 2. The Power of Mentoring (15 minutes) Have current mentor(s) speak and reflect on the benefits to themselves as mentors 3. New Insights Mentoring Program (15 minutes) Overview of program including brief description of screening process/steps, training and time commitments 4. Youth in the Program (10 minutes)

Have current mentee(s) speak about the benefits to themselves from having a mentor in their lives

5. Wrap-Up (10 minutes)

Thank prospective mentors for coming and provide application packets and business cards for them to take

### **Mentee Orientation Session Outline**

#### Session Title: Mentoring Is Powerful (and Fun)!

This session would include materials to help you plan and deliver an introductory training orientation session for prospective mentees and their parent/guardian who are interested in the program. The objectives of this session are intended to help prospective mentees and their parent/guardian:

- Develop a basic understanding of the program and mentee roles and expectations
- Determine if they want to complete an application and continue through the screening process
- Begin to explore the possible benefits of mentoring

An agenda for this one-hour informational session provides approximate times for each section and might include the following:

Icebreaker: Introductions (10 minutes)
Conduct fun interactive group activity that allows mentees and parents/guardians to

interact and get more comfortable in the groupMentoring Is Powerful and Fun (15 minutes)

Have current mentors speak and reflect on the types of things they do with their mentees and why they are interested in working with youth

New Insights Mentoring Program (15 minutes)
Overview of program including intake, approval and matching processes, training, time commitment, types of activities, and other benefits of participation

#### 4. Youth in the Program (10 minutes) Have current mentees speak about what they have gotten from the program and what it is like to have a mentor

5. Wrap-Up (10 minutes) Thank prospective mentees and their parents/guardians for coming and provide application packets and business cards for them to take

# Volunteer Inquiry Tracking Form

Date	Name	How did they learn about program?

### **Mentor Screening Procedure**

Screening procedures are the cornerstone of risk management and help ensure a safe and healthy match between the mentor and youth. Creating a detailed screening procedure enhances your program's ability to recruit quality mentors and minimizes program risk. A good screening procedure should include specific eligibility criteria, mandate the use of proper screening and assessment tools, and describe how records are to be kept. The screening procedure will allow program staff to make an informed decision about the appropriateness of a candidate to your program.

The mentor screening procedure provides the step-by-step process that the program coordinator must follow to determine if a candidate meets the defined criteria for becoming a mentor. In developing this procedure, it is important to consider the mission of your organization, the liabilities and risks posed by not properly screening candidates, and your program's eligibility requirements. Although no screening procedure is completely effective in screening out inappropriate candidates, experience shows that a thorough mentor screening process can significantly minimize program risk.

Depending on the structure of your program, a mentor screening procedure typically includes a written application, in-person interview, personal reference checks, driving record check, and criminal history check. The information gathered should indicate whether a potential mentor meets all the criteria outlined in your eligibility and screening policies. Personal references may come from a number of different sources including employers, friends, and family. Legal background records are maintained by state agencies and determined by the individual state. They likely have their own release forms to access information; call or write them about their requirements and restrictions.

*Note:* You may want to conduct a criminal history check, child abuse check, *and* sexual offender check. In most states there is both a child abuse and neglect central registry and a sexual offender registry; they may have two distinct processes for accessing information from them. Federal legislation mandates that states make information about registered sex offenders available to the public. Check with your local authorities to determine the logistics of obtaining this information within your own state.

#### What to include in this section:

- Mentor Screening Procedure
- Accompanying Forms:
  - Application Packet: Brochure (not included)

Mentor Application Information Release Personal References Mentor Interest Survey State DMV Release (not included – contact your state agency) State Criminal History Release (not included – contact your state agency) State Child Abuse and Neglect Release (not included – contact your state agency) State Sexual Offender Release (not included – contact your state agency)

- Mentor Interview
- Personal Reference Interview
- Mentor Assessment Summary
- Mentor Acceptance Letter
- Mentor Rejection Letter
- Mentor Contact Sheet

NEW	INSIGHT	S SAMPLE	PROCEDURE

# **Mentor Screening Procedure**

Board Approval Date:

Revision Date:

In accordance with the New Insights Mentoring Program eligibility and screening policies, mentoring program staff should complete the steps below to determine if a candidate qualifies to become a mentor.

- 1. The applicants must return all completed materials in the application packet given to them during the inquiry process including the Written Application, Information Release, Personal References, and Mentor Interest Survey. Proof of a valid driver's license and auto insurance must also be provided at this time.
- 2. A mentor file should be created for all prospective mentors who return a completed application. A Mentor Contact Sheet should be kept on top of one side of each file. The file should also contain the Mentor Assessment Summary followed by all other application materials and interview notes. As each component of the screening process is completed, update the checklist on the Mentor Assessment Summary.
- 3. Mentoring program staff members should:
  - Make an appointment and conduct an in-person interview with the prospective mentor
  - Conduct phone interviews with three personal references
  - Process the driving record, criminal history, child abuse registry, and sexual offender registry checks
- 4. Based on all information gathered above, complete the volunteer assessment and make a determination as to the appropriateness of the participant's involvement in the program.
- 5. Send out an acceptance or rejection letter to the applicant based on the overall assessment of appropriateness.
- 6. If applicant is rejected, the applicant's file should be placed into the file area of ineligible applicants.
- 7. If the applicant is accepted, the mentor must complete the initial two-hour training session prior to being matched with a mentee.

# **Mentor Application**

### **Personal Information**

Name:		Date:		
Street Address:				
City:		State:	Zip:	
Home phone:				
Social Sec. #:				
Date of Birth:// Gend	er: 🗌 Male 🔲 Female			

Please list all members of your household.

Name	Sex	Age	Relationship to Applicant

### **Employment History**

Please provide employment information for the past \_\_\_\_ years, with most recent position held first. If more space is needed use an extra sheet of paper.

Employer:				
Street Address:				
City:		State:	Zip:	
Supervisor's Name:		Title:		
Phone:				
Dates of Employment:	to		(m/year)	
Position Held:				

Applicant's Name:				
				_
Employer:				
Street Address:				
City:		State:	Zip:	
Supervisor's Name:		Title:		
Phone:				
Dates of Employment:			(m/year)	
Position Held:				
Employer:				
Street Address:				
City:			Zip:	
Supervisor's Name:		Title:		
Phone:				
Dates of Employment:	to		(m/year)	
Position Held:				

Applicant's Name:

### **Application Questions**

Please answer all of the following questions as completely as possible. If more space is needed, use an extra sheet of paper or write on the back of this page.

- I. Why do you want to become a mentor?
- 2. Do you have any previous experience volunteering or working with youth? If so, please specify
- 3. What qualities, skills, or other attributes do you feel you have that would benefit a youth? Please explain.
- 4. Can you commit to participate in the New Insights mentoring program for a minimum of one year from the time you are matched with a youth?
- 5. Are you available to meet with a child eight hours per month and have contact at least once per week? Please explain any particular scheduling issues.
- 6. Describe your general health. Are you currently under a physician's care or taking any medications? If so, please explain.
- 7. How would you describe yourself as a person?
- 8. How would your friends, family, and co-workers describe you?
- 9. Have you ever been arrested or convicted of a crime? If so, what were the circumstances?
- 10. Have you ever used illegal drugs? If so, what substances were used and how often?

#### Applicant's Name:

- II. Are you currently using any illegal drugs or controlled substances?
- 12. Do you drink alcoholic beverages? If so, what and how often?
- 13. Have you ever been convicted of a DUI, driving while under the influence of alcohol? If yes, when and what were the circumstances?
- 14. Do you use tobacco products? If so, what and how often?
- 15. Have you ever received treatment for alcohol or substance abuse? If yes, please explain.
- 16. Have you ever been treated or hospitalized for a mental disorder? If yes, please explain.
- 17. Have you ever been investigated or convicted of child abuse or neglect? If yes, please explain.
- 18. Have you ever been investigated or convicted of sexually abusing or molesting a youth 18 or younger? If yes, please explain.
- 19. Are you willing to communicate regularly and openly with program staff, provide monthly information regarding your mentoring activities, and receive feedback regarding any difficulties during your participation in the mentoring program?
- 20. Are you willing to attend an initial mentor training session and two inservice training sessions per year after being matched?

### Applicant's Name: \_\_\_\_\_

### Please read this carefully before signing:

New Insights Mentoring Program appreciates your interest in becoming a mentor.

Please initial each of the following:

I agree to follow all mentoring program guidelines and understand that any violation will result in suspension and/or termination of the mentoring relationship.

I understand that New Insights Mentoring Program is not obligated to provide a reason for their decision in accepting or rejecting me as a mentor.

(optional) I agree to allow New Insights Mentoring Program to use any photographic image of me taken while participating in the mentoring program. These images may be used in promotions or other related marketing materials.

I understand I must return all of the following completed items along with this application, and that any incomplete information will result in the delay of my application being processed:

- Copy of your valid driver's license and proof of auto insurance
- Information Release Form
- Personal References Form
- Interest Survey Form
- DMV Release Form (state agency form)
- Criminal History Release Form (state agency form)
- Child Abuse and Neglect Release Form (state agency form)
- Sexual Offender Release Form (state agency form)

By signing below, I attest to the truthfulness of all information listed on this application and agree to all the above terms and conditions.

Signature Date

Please return or mail this application and the items listed above to:

Mentoring Program Coordinator New Insights P.O. Box 5575 Winwood Heights, IL 89633

# **Information Release**

I, \_\_\_\_\_\_, understand it will be necessary for New Insights Mentoring Program to conduct a background check regarding my driving record, criminal history, personal references, and employment.

I authorize New Insights to obtain any needed information regarding my driving record, legal/criminal history, character references, and employment from any state or federal agency, my employer, and personal references for the purposes of participating in a mentoring program. Further, I provide permission for New Insights to conduct the same investigation of my background in previous states in which I have resided.

Further, I understand that information about myself will be anonymously (without my name) shared with a prospective mentee(s) and his/her parent(s)/guardian(s) to aid in determining a suitable match. Once a mentor/mentee match is determined, my identity and any other information known about me may be shared with the mentee and parent/guardian to ensure and aid in facilitating a safe and successful match relationship.

Signature		Date	
Full Name			
Address:	City:	State: Zip	
Date of Birth:/			
Social Security Number://			
Current Driver's License No.:		State:	

Please list any other cities, states, and dates of residency during the past 10 years.

City	State	From (m/year)	To (m/year)
City	State	From (m/year)	To (m/year)
City	State	From (m/year)	To (m/year)
City	State	From (m/year)	To (m/year)

# **Personal References**

Please list the names, addresses, and phone numbers of three people you would like to use as character references (only people you have known for at least a year). Include at least one relative. Any information New Insights Mentoring Program gathers from these references will be held as confidential and not released to you, the applicant.

Relative's Name:		
City:		Zip:
Phone:		
Relationship:		:
Name:		
City:		Zip:
Phone:		
Relationship:	How long known:	:
Name:		
City:		Zip:
Phone:		
Relationship:		:

# **Mentor Interest Survey**

Name: Date:
Please complete all the following. This survey will help New Insights Mentoring Program know more about you and your interests and help us find a good match for you.
What are the most convenient times for you to meet with your mentee? Please check all that apply.
Please indicate age group(s) you are interested in working with: Age: 11–14 15–18 19–21 Ethnicity:
Do you speak any languages other than English? If so, which languages?
Would you be willing to work with a child who has disabilities? If so, please specify disabilities you would be willing to work with.
What are some favorite things you like to do with other people?
What are your favorite subjects to read about?
What is your job and how did you choose this field?
What is one goal you have set for the future?
If you could learn something new, what would it be?
What person do you most admire and why?
Describe your ideal Saturday.

Please check all activities you are interested in:

🔲 Biking	Camping	Science	Cooking	Library
🔲 Hiking	Boating	Music	Sports	🗌 Yoga
🔲 Golf	Swimming	Gardening	Parks	Movies
Fishing	Animals/Pets	Painting/Photos	Board Games	Shopping

List any other areas of strong interest:

# **Mentor Interview**

Applicant Name:	Date:
Interviewed by:	

I need to ask a number of questions about you that will help me in matching you with a mentee. Some of the questions are personal and this interview is confidential. However, I am required to report anything that indicates you have done or may do harm to yourself or others. Some information, like personal qualities and what you would like to do with a mentee or things you are interested in may be shared with a prospective mentee and/or their parents. Do you understand?

- I. Why do you want to become a mentor?
- 2. Why do you think you can help a youth by mentoring? (if not answered in question #1)
- 3. What do you think are your strengths?
- 4. How about your weaknesses?
- 5. What type of child would you like to be matched with?
- 6. Will you be able to fulfill the commitments of the program eight hours per month with weekly contact for one year?
- 7. What was your own childhood like?
- 8. Have you ever abused or molested a youth?
- 9. Have you ever been arrested? If so, when and for what?
- 10. Do you currently use any alcohol, drugs, or tobacco?
- II. Have you ever undergone treatment for alcohol or substance abuse?
- 12. Have you ever been treated or hospitalized for a mental condition?

- 13. Do you have any experience working with children? If so, how will it help you in working with your mentee?
- 14. What challenges do you think young people face today that they need help with the most?
- 15. Mentoring a young person is a big responsibility and can change the lives of both the mentor and the mentee. What do you hope to gain from the experience and what do you hope the mentee gains from the relationship?
- 16. What are some of the biggest problems in the world or in your community that concern you?
- 17. What types of activities would you do with a mentee?
- 18. Who else in your household might be present at any given time when you are with your mentee?
- 19. What hobbies or interests do you have?
- 20. At this point, clarify any questions of concern that arose from the written application.
- 21. Do you have any questions about the program I can answer for you?

### **Interviewer Comments:**

# **Personal Reference Interview**

Applicant Name:	Date:
Interviewed by:	
Personal Reference Name:	
Personal Reference Phone Number:	
Your name has been given to us as a reference forapplied to be a mentor in our program. I would like to ask you son be held in absolute confidence; it will not be shared or accessible t this a good time for you to answer a number of questions?	
I. How long, and in what capacity, have you known the appli	cant?
2. How does the applicant relate to people in general?	
3. How would you describe the applicant?	
4. Do you feel that the applicant would be a good mentor and	d role model to a child?
5. Do you think that the applicant relates well to children and	young people?
6. Does the applicant usually keep his/her commitments?	
7. Is he/she on time for appointments and events?	
8. To your knowledge, has the applicant ever been convicted o	of a crime?
9. Do you know of any problems or issues that would affect t a child?	he applicant's ability to work with
10. Would you feel comfortable allowing the applicant to spen	d time alone with your child?
II. Do you have any additional comments about the applicant	?
Interviewer Comments:	

# **Mentor Assessment Summary**

Name:

Screening Materials	Date Sent to Applicant	Date Rec'd from Applicant	Date Sent to Agency	Date Item Completed
Written Application				
Copy of Driver's License				
Proof of Auto Insurance				
Information Release				
Personal References				
Interest Survey				
DMV Release Form				
Criminal History Release Form				
Child Abuse & Neglect Release Form				
Sexual Offender Release Form				
Volunteer Interview				
Personal Reference Interview				
Personal Reference Interview				
Personal Reference Interview				
Acceptance/Rejection Letter				

### **Eligibility Criteria**

Does the applicant meet each of the eligibility criteria? Please check the appropriate box.

Yes	No	Eligibility Criteria
		21 years of age or older
		Resides in Winwood Heights metro area
		Willing to adhere to program policies and procedures
		Agrees to a one-year commitment
		Commits to eight hours per month
		Agrees to weekly contact with mentee
		Completed screening procedure
		Agrees to attend required training sessions
		Willing to communicate regularly with program coordinator and submit monthly meeting and activity information
		Has reliable transportation
		Has current driver's license, insurance, and driving record
		Has clean criminal history
		Has never been accused, arrested, charged, or convicted of child sexual abuse

Yes	No	Eligibility Criteria
		Has not been convicted of a felony in the past seven years
		Does not use illicit drugs
		Does not use alcohol or controlled substances inappropriately
		Is not in treatment for substance abuse. Has had a non-addictive period for at least the past five years
		Has not been hospitalized for a mental disorder in the past three years
		Has not falsified information during the screening process

Does the mentor applicant meet all eligibility criteria?	🗌 Yes	🗌 No
If no, are there any mitigating circumstances?		

### **General Assessment Areas**

Did the applicant relate appropriately to the program staff during the following steps:

- Initial contact and inquiry
- Orientation
- Interview

Did the applicant complete the screening process with ease and appropriateness?

Are his/her reasons for wanting to be a mentor appropriate?

Is the applicant's personal and professional life appropriate and stable?

Does the applicant exhibit qualities of open-mindedness, flexibility, and emotional stability?

Does the applicant have experience working with youth?

Did the applicant's references speak well of him/her?

Does the individual have appropriate age-related interests and ability?

### **Overall comments:**

### **Recommendation:**

Recommendation To Approve:	🗌 Yes	🗌 No
Reasons Why:		

### Approval:

Approved:	🗌 Yes	🗌 No		
Ву:			 	 _
Ву:			 	 
Ву:			 	 

## **Mentor Acceptance and Rejection Letters**

#### Acceptance

New Insights Mentoring Program P.O. Box 5575, WINWOOD HEIGHTS, IL 89633

January 27, 2003

Mr. Jim Biggs 4321 North Webster St. Winwood Heights, IL 97217

Dear Mr. Biggs,

Congratulations!

On behalf of the New Insight Mentoring Program, we are happy to inform you of your acceptance as a mentor. Without the enthusiasm of volunteers like you, we would not be able to accomplish our mission.

We thank you for taking the time and effort to join our program and we look forward to continuing to support you and assist you as a mentor. At this time, we are working on finding you a suitable match and will contact you when we have found you a mentee.

### Rejection

Sincerely,

Gina Meanwell Program Coordinator New Insights Mentoring Program

January 27, 2003

Mr. Jim Biggs 4321 North Webster St. Winwood Heights, IL 97217

New Insights Mentoring Program P.O. Box 5575, WINWOOD HEIGHTS, IL 89633

Dear Mr. Biggs,

On behalf of the New Insight Mentoring Program, I wanted to express my sincere thanks for your interest in our program. I understand that you have given a considerable amount of time to this process and we greatly appreciate your effort. Unfortunately, we are unable to accept your application to be a mentor for our program.

Thank you again for your time and interest in our program.

Sincerely,

Gina Meanwell Program Coordinator New Insights Mentoring Program

# **Mentor Contact Sheet**

Name of Mentor:		Date of Birth:
Home Phone:	Work Phone:	E-Mail:
Mentee Name:		
Date	Durmage /	
Date	Purpose/	Notes:

# **Mentee Screening Procedure**

A mentee screening procedure is similar to that provided for mentors, with the main differences being that the mentee screening procedure requires input from the parent/guardian and does not require a background check. Because there will be some natural limitations in the quantity and characteristics of the youth your program can serve effectively, it is crucial to determine appropriate mentee eligibility criteria and to have a defined process for screening

# Tip for School-Based Programs

Depending on who refers youth to your program (and their reasons for doing so) you may wish to modify the information gathered on these forms to more accurately reflect the reasons youth have been the program can address. For example, if teachers or counselors do the referring, they likely have considerable insight into exactly what issues the as, specific academic or relationship potential candidates. Gathering some level of detailed information about the youth you serve will aid in making an appropriate match and in supervising the match.

In developing your mentee screening procedure, consider the mission of your organization as well as your program's eligibility requirements. Depending on the structure of your program, a mentee screening procedure typically includes a referral from a teacher, parent, or another person in the community, a written application, written permission by the parent/guardian, an interest survey, and an in-person interview.

The final process of the screening procedure involves gathering all the documents and information you have collected concerning the potential mentee and then assessing the appropriateness of the candidate. A final decision should be documented and necessary program and/or board signatures obtained.

*Note:* Many programs make use of waivers within their program's application and screening process that must be signed by a youth's parent/guardian to protect their program

from liability. Damage, transportation, or other explicit waivers may be drafted to release the agency, staff, and volunteers from any claims of injury, damage, or death by a client, parent, family, or their estate. Many states require that waivers refer to negligence while others do not allow a waiver of liability for gross negligence; you must check with your program's legal counsel and state laws regarding the use and limitations of waivers.

#### What to include in this section:

- Mentee Screening Procedure
- Accompanying Forms:
  - Mentee Referral
    - Parent/Guardian Referral Letter
  - Application Packet:
    - Brochure (not included)

- Mentee Application
- Contact and Information Release
- Mentee Interest Survey
- Mentee Interview
- Mentee Assessment Summary
- Mentee Acceptance Letter
- Mentee Rejection Letter
- Mentee Contact Sheet

### **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE**

## **Mentee Screening Procedure**

Board Approval Date:

Revision Date:

In accordance with the New Insights Mentoring Program eligibility and screening policies, program staff should complete the steps below to determine if a candidate qualifies to become a mentee.

- 1. Upon receiving a referral for any youth, program staff must begin the process by mailing a Parent/Guardian Referral Letter, dates and times of upcoming mentee orientation sessions, and an application packet. It is advised that the staff do a follow-up call to the parent/guardian within 72 hours of mailing the letter.
- 2. The applicant must return all completed materials in the application packet given to them during the inquiry process, including the Written Application, Contact and Information Release, and Mentee Interest Survey.
- 3. A mentee file should be created for all prospective mentees who return a completed application. A Mentee Contact Sheet should be kept on top of one side of each file. The file should also contain the Mentee Assessment Summary followed by all other application materials and interview notes. As each component of the screening process is completed, update the checklist on the Mentee Assessment Summary.
- 4. Mentoring program staff must then make an appointment and conduct an inperson interview with the prospective mentee.
- 5. Based on all information gathered above, complete the Mentee Assessment Summary and make a final determination as to the appropriateness of the participant's involvement in the program.
- 6. Send out an acceptance or rejection letter to the mentee or parent/guardian based on the overall assessment of appropriateness.
- 7. If applicant is rejected, the applicant's file should be placed into the file area of ineligible applicants.
- 8. If the applicant is accepted, the mentee must complete the initial two-hour training prior to being matched with a mentor.

# Mentee Referral Form

Youth's Name: _			
Age:	Grade:		
School:			
Requested by: _			
Position:		Phone N	Number:
The child is bein	g referred for assistance in	the following area	s (check all that apply):
	sues Behavioral Issues	Social Skills	
Why do you fee	l this youth might benefit f	rom a mentor?	
What particular	interests, either in school o	or out, do you kno	ow of that the child has?
What strategies	/learning models might be o	effective for a men	tor working with this youth?
	-10 (10 being highest) rate Academic performance Social skills Self-esteem Family support Communication skills Attitude about school/edu Peer relations		l of:
With what spec	ific academic subjects, if an	y, does the studer	nt need assistance?

Additional comments:

### **Parent/Guardian Referral Letter**

New Insights Mentoring Program P.O. Box 5575, Winwood Heights, IL 89633

January 29, 2003

To the parents of: \_\_\_\_\_

Your son/daughter has been referred to participate in the New Insights Mentoring Program that matches a community volunteer with a youth to serve as a one-toone mentor. The mentor role is that of a friend, coach, and guide. A mentor would meet with your son/ daughter once a week for a year and take personal interest in the growth and development of your son/daughter.

We hope that you will grant permission for your son/ daughter to participate in the program. New Insights will offer support and guidance for both the youth and mentors and will do our best to ensure the success of the relationship.

Please read and fill out the Program Brochure, Written Application, Contact and Information Release, and Mentee Interest Survey. We encourage you to have the youth help complete the application materials. If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.

I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely,

Gina Meanwell Program Coordinator New Insights Mentoring Program (503) 222-4131

# **Mentee Application**

(To Be Completed by the Parent/Guardian)

### **Personal Information**

Youth's Name:	Date:
Parent/Guardian Name:	
Relationship to Youth: Mother Father Othe	er, specify:
Street Address:	
City:	
Home Phone: Work Phone:	
Youth Social Sec. #:	
Date of Birth:// Age: Gende	er: 🗌 Male 🔲 Female
Ethnicity: White Hispanic African America	n 🗌 Asian 🔲 Other:
Name of School:	Grade:
Emergency Contact Name:	Phone Number:
Please list all members of your household.	

Name	Sex	Age	Relationship to Applicant

### **Application Questions**

Please answer <u>all</u> of the following questions as completely as possible. If more space is needed, use an extra sheet of paper or write on the back of this page.

- I. Why do you/your child want to participate in a mentoring program?
- 2. Briefly describe your expectations for the New Insights Mentoring Program:
- 3. Is your child available to meet with a mentor eight hours per month and have contact at least once a week for a minimum of one year? Please explain any particular scheduling issues.

- 4. Is your child willing to attend an initial mentee training session and two training sessions per year after being matched?
- 5. Describe your child's school performance including grades, homework, attendance, behaviors, etc.
- 6. Does your child have friends? Please describe his/her friendships.
- 7. Is your child currently having any problems either at home or school?
- 8. Has your child experienced any traumatic events (i.e., death in the family, abuse, divorce)? If yes, please provide details.
- 9. Can you provide any additional background information that may be helpful to New Insights in matching your son/daughter with an appropriate mentor?

#### **Medical History**

Name of Primary Care Physician:	Phone No.:
Medical Insurance Provider:	
Policy Number:	Phone No.:
Does your son/daughter have any physical proble	ms or limitations?
Is your son/daughter currently receiving treatmen	t for any medical issues?
Is he/she currently on any type of medication? Is	so, please specify.
Does your son/daughter have any known allergies describe them below:	s or adverse reactions to medications? If yes, please
Does your son/daughter have any emotional issue	es or problems right now?

Is your son or daughter currently seeing a counselor or therapist?

Therapist's Name:

### Please read this carefully before signing

New Insights Mentoring Program appreciates you and your child's interest in his/her becoming a mentee. This application is intended as a means of informing and gaining the consent of the parent/guardian to allow their son/daughter to participate in the New Insights Mentoring Program.

After receiving this completed application from you, we will evaluate the information and send you a letter letting you know if your child has been accepted into the mentoring program. Much of the information you supply in this application packet will be used to match your child with an appropriate mentor. Therefore, the mentoring staff may, at times, need to access and share this information with prospective mentors and other parties when it is in the best interest of the match. However, we do not reveal names until there is an initial interest from the mentee, parent/guardian, and mentor based first upon anonymous information provided about each other.

### Please initial each of the following

I give my informed consent and permission for my child to participate in the New Insights Mentoring Program and its related activities.

I agree to have my child follow all mentoring program guidelines and understand that any violation on my child's part may result in suspension and/or termination of the mentoring relation-ship.

I hereby acknowledge that my child will be transported by his/her mentor and/or New Insights staff or representatives while participating in the New Insights Mentoring Program, and that such transportation is voluntary and at his/her own risk.

I release the New Insights Mentoring Program of all liability of injury, death, or other damages to me, my child, family, estate, heirs, or assigns that may result from his/her participation in the program, including but not limited to transportation, and hold harmless any New Insights mentor, program staff, or other representatives, both collectively and individually, of any injury, physical or emotional, other than where gross negligence has been determined.

(optional) I agree to allow New Insights to use any photographic image of my child taken while participating in the mentoring program. These images may be used in promotions or other related marketing materials.

I understand I must return all of the following completed items along with this application, and that any incomplete information will result in the delay of this application being processed:

- Contact and Information Release Form
- Interest Survey Form

By signing below, I attest to the truthfulness of all information listed on this application and agree to all the above terms and conditions.

Parent/Guardian Signature

Date

Please return or mail this application and the items listed above to

Mentoring Program Coordinator New Insights P.O. Box 5575 Winwood Heights, IL 89633

# **Contact and Information Release**

(To Be Completed by the Parent/Guardian)

Youth's Name:	Date:
School:	

I hereby grant permission for New Insights Mentoring Program to make contact with my child and conduct a personal interview for the purposes of applying to be a mentee. New Insights may also make contact with my child on school premises for the purposes of screening and interviewing as well as ongoing support of his/her participation in the mentoring program.

I authorize New Insights to obtain any needed information regarding my child from his/her school's staff, including academic and behavioral records and conversations with teachers, counselors, and other administrative staff.

Further, I understand that basic information about my child will be anonymously (without names) shared with a prospective mentor(s) to aid in determining a suitable match. Once a mentor/mentee match is determined, my and my child's identity and other relevant information will be shared with the mentor to the extent it aids in facilitating a successful match.

Parent/Guardian Signature		Date	
Parent/Guardian Name:			
Address:	City:	State:	Zip:

# Mentee Interest Survey

(To Be Completed by Youth)

Please complete all the following. This survey will help New Insights Mentoring Program know more about you and your interests and help us find a good match for you.					
What are the most convenient times for you to meet with your mentor? Please check all that apply.       Weekdays     Lunchtime     After school     Evenings     Weekends     Other					
Do you speak any languages other than English? If so, which languages?					
What are some favorite things you like to do with other people?					
What are your favorite subjects in school?					
If you could learn about a job/career, what would it be?					
What are your favorite subjects to read about?					
What is one goal you have set for the future?					
If you could learn something new, what would it be?					
What person do you most admire and why?					
Describe your ideal Saturday:					
Please check all activities you are interested in:					
BikingCampingScienceCookingLibraryHikingBoatingMusicSportsYogaGolfSwimmingGardeningParksMoviesFishingAnimals/PetsPainting/PhotosBoard GamesShopping					
List any other areas of special interest:					
## **Mentee Interview**

Applicant Name:	Date:	
Interviewed by:		

I need to ask a number of questions about you that will help me in matching you with a mentor. Some of the questions are personal and I want you to know that what you tell me will be confidential, meaning I won't tell your parents unless you give me permission. However, I am required to report anything that indicates you have done or may do harm to yourself or others. And some information, such as what you would like to do with a mentor or things you are interested in may be shared with a prospective mentor. Do you understand?

- I. Why do you think you'd like to have a mentor?
- 2. What type of person would you like to be matched with?
- 3. Will you be able to fulfill the commitments of the program eight hours per month with weekly contact for one year?
- 4. Are you willing to attend an initial mentee training session and two training sessions per year after being matched?
- 5. One of the program requirements is to communicate with program staff once a month about your relationship with your mentor. Are you okay doing that?
- 6. What types of activities would you do with a mentor?
- 7. What hobbies or interests do you have?
- 8. How would you describe yourself?
- 9. How do you think friends and family members would describe you?
- 10. How do you like school?
- II. How well do you do in school?
- 12. Tell me about your friends.
- 13. Have you ever been arrested? If so, when and for what?
- 14. Do you currently use any alcohol, drugs, or tobacco?
- 15. Do you have any questions about the program I can answer for you?

#### **Interviewer Comments:**

# Mentee Assessment Summary

Name:	Date:
runie.	Dute.

Screening Materials	Date Sent to Applicant	Date Item Completed
School/Agency Referral (if applicable)		
Parent Referral Letter (if applicable)		
Written Application		
Contact and Information Release		
Mentee Interest Survey		
Mentee Interview		
Acceptance/Rejection Letter		

## Eligibility Criteria:

Yes	No	Eligibility Criteria
		II-18 years of age
		Resides in Winwood Heights metro area
		Willing to adhere to program policies and procedures
		Able to obtain parent/guardian permission and ongoing support for participation in the program
		Agrees to a one-year commitment
		Commits to eight hours per month
		Agrees to weekly contact with mentor
		Agrees to attend required training sessions
		Completed screening procedure
		Will communicate regularly with program coordinator and discuss monthly meeting and activity information

Does the mentee	applicant	meet all	eligibility	criteria?	🗌 Yes	🗌 No
-----------------	-----------	----------	-------------	-----------	-------	------

If no, please explain any mitigating circumstances.

	Crad	0	Needs	Deen	Commente
Assessment Area Motivation for being in program	Good	Okay	Help	Poor	Comments
Academic performance					
General health					
Hygiene habits					
Self-esteem					
Social skills					
Parental support					

## **General Assessment Areas:**

## **Overall comments:**

#### **Recommendation:**

Recommendation To Approve: Yes No Reasons Why:

## Approval:

Approved: 🗌 Yes	No
Ву:	
Ву:	
Date:	

## **Mentee Acceptance and Rejection Letters**

#### **Acceptance Letter**

New Insights Mentoring Program P.O. Box 5575, WINWOOD HEIGHTS, IL 89633

January 29, 2003

Ms. Georgia Pleasant 2343 NE Flanders Winwood Heights, IL 97214

Re: Jeff Pleasant

Dear Ms. Pleasant,

We are excited to inform you of your son's acceptance into the New Insights Mentoring Program. Our program coordinator will contact you shortly after an appropriate match has been found for Jeff. We appreciate your assistance in this process and look forward to communicating with you in the future.

We encourage your participation in New Insights activities; please feel free to contact the program coordinator with any questions or concerns.

#### **Rejection Letter**

Sincerely,

Gina Meanwell Program Coordinator New Insights Mentoring Program (503) 222-4131 New Insights Mentoring Program P.O. Box 5575, WINWOOD HEIGHTS, IL 89633

January 27, 2003

Celeste Waters 4321 North Webster St. Winwood Heights, IL 97217

Re: Jill Waters

Dear Ms. Waters,

On behalf of the New Insight Mentoring Program, I wanted to express my sincere thanks for your interest in our program. I understand that you have given a considerable amount of time to this process and we greatly appreciate your effort. Unfortunately, we are unable to accept your daughter's application to be a mentee in our program.

I would be happy to discuss our decision with you. Please feel free to call me with any questions.

Thanks again and we wish you and your child much success.

Sincerely,

Gina Meanwell Program Coordinator New Insights Mentoring Program

# **Mentee Contact Sheet**

Name of Mentee:	Date of Birth:
Parent/Guardian:	
Home Phone:	Parent Work Phone:
E-mail:	
Mentor Name:	

# **Purpose/Notes** Date

## **Training Procedure**

A training procedure is important because it provides your staff with clear direction concerning the contents of training and how and when it is to be delivered to participants. Having a formal training outline and curriculum (materials) will strengthen your program by better and more consistently preparing both your mentors and mentees for the match relationship.

While your procedure will contain your general training expectations, you should also develop and maintain a complete training curriculum and supporting training materials. The National Mentoring Center Web site has many additional free publications that can help you build your training content.

Note that many mentoring programs require potential mentors and mentees to attend a formal group orientation session prior to completing the application and screening process. Informational orientation sessions are covered within this manual as part of the inquiry procedure, which occurs prior to beginning the screening process.

#### What to include in this section:

- Training Procedure
- Accompanying Forms:
  - Mentor Training Outline
  - Mentee Training Outline
  - Training Evaluation
  - Mentor Training Completion Worksheet
  - Mentee Training Completion Worksheet

## NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE

## **Training Procedure**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date: \_\_\_\_\_

#### **General Training Procedures**

- 1. Each mentor and mentee must attend a two-hour training session prior to being matched as well as at least two inservice training sessions per year of involvement in the New Insights Mentoring Program, the latter being offered to each group at least quarterly.
- 2. The program coordinator has the lead role in managing training session logistics, developing curriculums and training materials, facilitating the session, and processing the training evaluation forms. Sessions should be conducted by program staff along with outside experts, and mentors and mentees currently in the program.
- 3. Training evaluations forms will be distributed and collected following all training sessions.
- 4. A training manual and supporting materials will be developed and maintained separately from the policy and procedure manual by the program coordinator. Training materials will be reviewed and updated based upon program and training evaluation feedback at least semi-annually.

#### **Initial Training Session**

- 1. After potential mentors and mentees have completed the screening process and been accepted to participate in the program, the coordinator will notify them of the next training times and schedule them to attend a training session. Two days prior to the training, the coordinator will call to remind participants about the training.
- 2. Basic mentor and mentee training sessions will be held once a month alternating between the first Saturday of the month from 10 a.m. to 12 p.m. and the first Thursday of the month from 7 to 9 p.m.
- 3. Participants must complete the Training Completion Forms, which will be added to the right side of their case files.
- 4. Content for the initial training sessions must include basic program guidelines, safety issues, and communication/relationship building skills. Sexual abuse prevention training, in particular, is mandatory for both mentors and mentees.

5. A training completion certificate will be given to each participant at the end of their initial training session.

#### **Inservice Training Sessions**

- 1. Once matched, each mentor and mentee must attend at least two inservice training sessions during the course of the year. Attendance at each session will be noted and dated on their file log sheet.
- Mentor and mentee inservice training sessions will be offered quarterly, alternating between a Saturday from 10 a.m. to 12 p.m. and a Thursday from 7 to 9 p.m.
- 3. Content for the inservice sessions will be determined based on feedback provided by mentors and mentees during the support meetings or based on feedback and suggestions from mentors and mentees. Topics may include themes such as communication strategies, understanding youth risk behaviors, goal setting, educational topics, and community referral services.

#### **Training Attendance Failure**

- If a mentor or mentee schedules but fails to attend an Initial Training session twice without prior notification and good reason as deemed by the program coordinator, he/she will not be accepted into the New Insights Mentoring Program.
- 2. If the mentor or mentee fails to attend the required number of inservice training sessions per year, the mentor or mentee will not be eligible to be matched again at the end of his or her existing mentoring relationship.
- 3. Failure to complete training sessions coupled with identified match problems may result in the match being terminated and may result in exclusion from future involvement in the New Insights Mentoring Program.

## **Mentor and Mentee Training Curriculum Outlines**

#### **Mentor Training Curriculum Outline**

#### Session Title: Making Mentoring Work!

This training workshop should include materials to help you plan and deliver an introductory training workshop for new mentors. The objectives of this training are intended to help new mentors:

- Develop a deeper understanding of mentor roles and expectations
- Learn strategies for effectively mentoring a youth
- Understand clearly the program guidelines and policies that they must operate within as mentors

An agenda for a two-hour training workshop, and approximate times for each activity, might include the following:

- 1. Icebreaker: Introductions (15 minutes)
- 2. Roles of a Mentor (20 minutes)
  - Activity Ideas
- 3. Trust and Relationship Building (25 minutes)

#### BREAK (15 minutes)

- 4. Safety Issues (25 minutes)
  - Abuse Prevention
  - Mandatory Reporting
  - Sexual Harassment
  - Transportation Rules
  - Alcohol and Tobacco Use

#### 5. Other Important Program Guidelines (20 minutes)

- Parent Roles and Inclusion
- Gifts and Money
- Expected and Unacceptable Behaviors
- Match Closure

#### 6. Wrap-Up - What's Next? (15 minutes)

- Matching Process
- Questions

#### Mentee Training Curriculum Outline

#### Session Title: Mentoring Works!

This training workshop should include materials to help you plan and deliver an introductory training workshop for new mentees. The objectives of this training are intended to help new mentees:

- Develop a deeper understanding of their role as a mentee
- Know what to expect from a mentor and how working with a mentor can help them succeed in life
- Understand clearly the program guidelines and policies that they must operate within as mentees

An agenda for a two-hour training workshop, and approximate times for each activity, might include the following:

- 1. Icebreaker: Introductions (20 minutes)
- 2. What is a mentor? (20 minutes)
  - Activity Ideas
- 3. Talking and Relating to Your Mentor (25 minutes)

BREAK (15 minutes)

- 4. Safety Issues (25 minutes)
  - Abuse Prevention
  - Mandatory Reporting
  - Sexual HarassmentAlcohol and Tobacco Use
  - Theohor and Tobacco disc
- 5. Other Important Program Guidelines (20 minutes)
  - Parent Inclusion and Permission
  - Gifts and Money
  - Expected and Unacceptable Behaviors
  - Match Closure
- 6. Wrap-Up What's Next? (15 minutes)
  - Matching Process
  - Questions

## **Training Evaluation**

Name (optional):	Date:	
------------------	-------	--

- I. What did you find to be most useful in this workshop?
- 2. What did you find to be least useful?
- 3. Was there anything you felt was missing from this session that you would have liked to learn more about?
- 4. In what other ways could we improve this session?
- 5. Please rate the following:

	Poor		Average		Excellent
Effectiveness of trainer	I	2	3	4	5
Training room	Ι	2	3	4	5
Training content	I	2	3	4	5
Training activities	I	2	3	4	5
Training materials	I	2	3	4	5
Overall rating	Ι	2	3	4	5

- 6. List other topics or concerns you would like to have addressed in future training sessions.
- 7. Other comments:

# Mentor Training Completion Worksheet

Congratulations on completing your training and we look forward to working with you as a New Insights mentor!

List three things you learned during this session that will help you when you begin your new role as a mentor. They can be skills, attitudes, or anything else. Then explain how you plan to use these in working with your mentee.

l	•	

2.

3.

This certifies that I have completed my initial training and that I fully understand and agree to follow the guidelines and requirements of being a mentor in the New Insights Mentoring Program

Mentor Signature

Date

Print Name

# Mentee Training Completion Worksheet

Congratulations on completing your training and we look forward to working with you as a New Insights mentee!

List three things you learned during this session that will help you when you begin your new role as a mentee. They can be skills, attitudes, or anything else. Then explain how you plan to use these in working with your mentor.

١.

2.

3.

This certifies that I have completed my initial training and that I fully understand and agree to follow the guidelines and requirements of being a mentee in the New Insights Mentoring Program.

Mentor Signature

Date

Print Name

## **Matching Procedure**

Creating appropriate matches is crucial both for the success of the individual match and for the overall success of your mentoring program. A matching procedure will help your staff clearly understand the process of properly matching mentors and mentees. It should also provide guidelines concerning qualifying criteria and requirements that need to be met before the match is formalized.

Individual written contracts should be created and signed by the respective mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian. The individual contracts should clearly and explicitly state what each is agreeing to do and the guidelines each must follow to participate in the program.

#### What to include in this section:

- Matching Procedure
- Accompanying Forms:
  - Match Worksheet
  - Mentor Contract
  - Mentee Contract
  - Parent/Guardian Contract

#### **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE**

## Matching Procedure

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date: \_\_\_\_

- To begin the match process, the program coordinator reviews the application, interview notes, and interest survey information of both the mentee and mentor to determine match suitability between a mentor and mentee. The greatest weight will be placed on the mentee preferences and needs. A match selection will be made using the match suitability criteria as a guide:
  - Preferences of the mentor, mentee, and/or parent/guardian
  - Similar gender/ethnicity
  - Common interests
  - Compatibility of meeting times
  - Geographical proximity
  - Similar personalities
- 2. Once a potential match is identified, and prior to contacting any of the prospective participants, the program coordinator must review the files of the potential mentor and mentee to ensure all screening procedures have been completed and both have met all the eligibility criteria. As this is determined, the program coordinator fills out the Match Worksheet. A copy of the Match Worksheet will be placed in both the mentor and mentee files once a match is made.
- 3. The program coordinator then first contacts the prospective mentor and without using last names, describes and provides information about the mentee to determine if there is interest by the mentor.
- 4. Given initial interest by the mentor, the program coordinator then provides the mentee's parent/guardian with a description and information about the prospective mentor.
- 5. If both the mentor and the parent/guardian agree, the coordinator will then contact the mentee and describe the prospective mentor to them. The mentee is informed last so as to minimize disappointment if either the mentor and/or parent/guardian does not approve of the suggested match in some way.
- 6. Once both parties tentatively agree to the match, a time is scheduled for an introductory meeting. The program coordinator facilitates this introductory meeting of the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian. The program coordinator should conduct the meeting by:

#### Matching Procedure, page 2 of 2

- Facilitating introductions
- Having the mentor take the lead in talking about his/her interests, hobbies, and why he/she wants to be a mentor, followed by the mentee doing the same
- Asking each party if they are interested in moving forward with the match
- 7. If anyone is uncertain, the parties may be given time to consider the match further.
- 8. If all agree to move forward with the match, match contracts must be completed and signed by all parties. Copies of all are given to each party.
- 9. The first mentor and mentee match meeting date and time should be confirmed. Telephone numbers and addresses can be exchanged at this time.
- 10. The parent/guardian must provide a copy of the youth's health insurance card or health insurance provider information to the mentor at this time.
- 11. Once the match is made, program staff will add the mentor/mentee name to the log sheet of the mentee/mentor files and schedule the first follow-up call to each person within the first week following their first meeting date.

# **Match Worksheet**

(To be completed by the program coordinator)

#### **Prospective Match Participants**

Mentor:	 
Mentee:	
Parent/Guardian:	

## Match Criteria

Why you feel the match would be compatible and successful, considering the following match criteria:

- Preferences of the mentor, mentee, and/or parent/guardian
- Similar gender/ethnicity
- Common interests
- Compatibility of meeting times
- Geographical proximity
- Similar personalities

Other reasons for compatibility:

Any areas of concern:

Comments:

Note: Place copy in both mentor and mentee files.

## Mentor Contract

Name: \_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_

By choosing to participate in the New Insights Mentoring Program, I agree to:

- Follow all rules and guidelines as outlined by the program coordinator, mentor training, program policies, and this contract
- Be flexible and provide the necessary support and advice to help my mentee succeed
- Make a one-year commitment to being matched with my mentee
- Meet at least eight hours per month with my mentee
- Make at least weekly contact with my mentee
- Obtain parent/guardian permission for all meeting times at least three days in advance, if possible
- Be on time for scheduled meetings or call my mentee at least 24 hours beforehand if I am unable to make a meeting
- Submit monthly meeting times and activities to the program coordinator, and regularly and openly communicate with the program coordinator as requested
- Inform the program coordinator of any difficulties or areas of concern that may arise in the relationship
- Keep any information that my mentee tells me confidential except as may cause him or others harm
- Always obey traffic laws when in the presence of my mentee and keep a copy of his/her health insurance coverage in the automobile at all times when traveling together
- Never be in the presence of my mentee when I have or am consuming alcohol, tobacco, or controlled substances
- Participate in a closure process when that time comes
- Notify the program coordinator if I have any changes in address, phone number, or employment status
- Attend inservice mentor training sessions twice per year

(please initial) I understand that upon match closure, future contact with my mentee is beyond the scope of the New Insights Mentoring Program and may happen only by the mutual consensus of the mentor, the mentee, and parent/guardian.

I agree to follow all the above stipulations of this program as well as any other conditions as instructed by the program coordinator at this time or in the future.

(Signature)

(Date)

## Mentee Contract

Name:

Date:

By choosing to participate in the New Insights Mentoring Program, I agree to:

- Follow all rules and guidelines as outlined by the program coordinator, mentee training, program policies, and this contract
- Have a positive attitude and be respectful of my mentor
- Make a one-year commitment to being matched with my mentor
- Meet at least eight hours per month with my mentor
- Make at least weekly contact with my mentor
- Obtain parent/guardian permission for all meeting times at least three days in advance, if possible
- Be on time for scheduled meetings or call my mentor at least 24 hours beforehand if I am unable to make a meeting
- Discuss monthly meeting times and activities with the program coordinator, and regularly and openly communicate with the program coordinator as requested
- Inform the program coordinator of any difficulties or areas of concern that may arise in the relationship
- Participate in a closure process when that time comes
- Notify the program coordinator if I have any changes in address or phone number
- Attend mentee training sessions twice per year

\_\_\_\_\_\_ (please initial) I understand that upon match closure, future contact with my mentor is beyond the scope of the New Insights Mentoring Program and can happen only by the mutual consensus of the mentor, the mentee, and my parent/guardian.

I agree to follow all the above stipulations of this program as well as any other conditions as instructed by the program coordinator at this time or in the future.

(Signature)

(Date)

## Parent/Guardian Contract

Name:          Date:	
----------------------	--

By allowing my son/daughter to participate in the New Insights Mentoring Program, I agree to:

- Allow my child to participate in the New Insights Mentoring Program and to be matched with a New Insights mentor
- Follow and encourage my child to follow all rules and guidelines as outlined by the program coordinator, mentee training, program policies, and this contract
- Support my child in this match by allowing him to meet with his mentor at least eight hours per month and have weekly contact with him/her for one year
- Support my child being on time for scheduled meetings or have him/her call the mentor at least 24 hours beforehand if unable to make a meeting
- Regularly and openly communicate with the program coordinator as requested
- Inform the program coordinator if I observe any difficulties or have areas of concern that may arise in the match relationship
- Participate in a closure process when that time comes
- Notify the program coordinator if I have any changes in address or phone number
- Provide the program coordinator and the mentor with any updated health insurance information for my child

(please initial) I understand that upon match closure, future contact between my child and his/her mentor is beyond the scope of the New Insights mentoring program, and can happen only by the mutual consensus of the mentor, the mentee, and myself.

I agree to follow all the above stipulations of this program as well as any other conditions as instructed by the program coordinator at this time or in the future.

(Signature)

(Date)

## Match Support and Supervision Procedure

Ongoing support and supervision is a crucial part of running an effective mentoring program and it is imperative that you create a procedure that clearly informs your staff about how to ensure the success of each match once it is made.

In creating your procedure, consider setting up a regular schedule of contacts between the program coordinator, match members, and the parent/guardian. The frequency, form, and content of this support is likely to vary from program to program, depending upon the structure and mission of your program, the population and needs of the youth being served, funding stipulations, and available resources.

It is recommended that in-person or telephone contact be made whenever possible with the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian to provide interactive communication and problem solving. Nipping trouble spots early in the match may go a long way to fostering relationship longevity and positive outcomes for the youth. Often, intervention from a program coordinator is essential in interpreting and reiterating guidelines and boundaries of the match, ensuring the mentor of his/her value, and helping brainstorm creative solutions to problems that can threaten match success.

Other areas of support may include facilitating regular mentor support sessions where they can share challenges and seek peer support in finding creative solutions to common difficulties. Group activities for matches also provide a sense of connection among mentors, mentees, and staff and can strengthen their commitment to the overall program. Finally, garnering community support in the form of free tickets to movies, plays, sports, or other events/activities allows matches to explore new avenues of interest and learning that might not otherwise be possible.

#### What to include in this section:

- Match Support and Supervision Procedure
- Accompanying Forms:
  - Mentor Report Log
  - Mentee Report Log
  - Parent/Guardian Report Log

#### **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE**

## **Match Support and Supervision Procedure**

Board Approval Date: \_

Revision	Date:	

#### **Supervision**

- 1. Once matched, the program coordinator or another program staff person will be assigned to support and monitor all parties to a given match including the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian.
- 2. The assigned staff person will add report logs to the right side of the respective case files:
  - Mentor Report Log (mentor's file)
  - Mentee Report Log (mentee's file)
  - Parent/Guardian Report Log (mentee file)
- 3. Within one week of the first activity date of a new match, the assigned staff person will make phone/personal contact with all parties to determine how the first meeting went. At that time, they will make their first entries in the Report Logs in each file.
- 4. After this initial contact, the assigned staff member will then follow up monthly by phone with each party to gather information regarding meeting dates, times, activities, and how the match is proceeding. Three attempts to contact each party will be made in a given month before a written letter or note will be mailed requesting they call the program coordinator.
- 5. With each contact, information will be recorded on two forms in the case files:
  - Mentor or Mentee Contact Sheets: An entry will be made on the respective Mentor/Mentee Contact Sheet that supervision contact was made, noting if a Report Log was filled out, a message was left, or there was no answer. The respective Mentor/Mentee Contact Sheet should be completed each time a mentor, mentee, or parent/guardian makes contact even if outside monthly supervision times. (See mentor and mentee screening procedures for respective Contact Sheet forms.)
  - Report Log: Detailed information regarding the dates, times, activities, and progress of the match will be recorded on the respective Report Logs.
- 6. In order to assess how the match is proceeding, program staff may inquire about the following and/or probe beyond to uncover core issues:
  - Are they enjoying participating in the match?
  - How do they feel it is going?
  - Are they having any difficulties?
  - Is the relationship developing as they would like?
  - If not, why do they think it isn't?

#### Match Support and Supervision Procedure, page 2 of 3

- Are there any concerns or issues that should be addressed by program staff?
- Do they need more support or any intervention?
- 7. In accordance with the training policy and procedures, the assigned program staff member should remind the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian of the semi-annual inservice training requirement (for mentors and mentees) every few months and attempt to schedule these.

#### **Problem Resolution**

- 1. If the coordinator assesses that there is a potential problem with the match, the coordinator will attempt to clarify the potential problem and work with the mentor, mentee, and/or parent/guardian to resolve the issue early.
- 2. The general process for resolving problems will follow the IDEAL model that includes:
  - Identify the problem and have a clear shared understanding of the problem between the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian.
  - <u>Develop</u> alternative solutions that could address the problem.
  - <u>Evaluate</u> the strengths and weaknesses of each solution.
  - Act on the most constructive solution
  - Learn from how the solution worked and repeat the IDEAL process if necessary.
- 3. When the match problem involves a lack of contact on the part of the mentor or mentee, the program staff must investigate the reasons for lack of contact with the offending party, and make efforts to ensure the match is meeting according to the contracted amount of time per month.
- 4. If a problem area continues, the coordinator should consult with other staff members and/or community resources to define a viable approach to addressing the problem and proposing potential solutions.
- 5. If the problem cannot be resolved, formally closing the match may be necessary. At that time, it would be determined if either or both parties are suitable for matching with other partners.
- 6. All support and supervision by program staff must be recorded on the respective Mentor/Mentee Contact Sheets, referencing any notes included in the files.

#### **Other Support**

It is the responsibility of the program coordinator to provide other support to the matches, including but not inclusive of the following:

- Plan and implement at least one group activity for mentor/mentee matches per quarter.
- Facilitate an ongoing support group for mentors that will meet bimonthly
- Access community resources, including board member contacts, to obtain and disseminate tickets to community events and activities for matches.

# Mentor, Mentee, and Parent/Guardian Reporting Logs

## **Mentor Report Log**



## **Recognition Procedure**

A recognition procedure defines the ways in which your agency recognizes and rewards participants in your program, particularly the volunteers. A good recognition procedure provides your staff with clear direction on how to go about recognizing participant efforts and accomplishments. It also formalizes recognition as an important part of your mentoring program. A well-thought-out recognition procedure will benefit your program by increasing participant satisfaction, and increasing the longevity of the matches.

#### What to include in this section:

- Recognition Procedure
- Any planning timelines related to specific annual recognition events, such as an awards banquet (not included)

#### **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE**

## **Recognition Procedure**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date: \_\_\_\_\_

The following outlines required recognition activities for mentors in the New Insights Mentoring Program. This procedure, however, does not limit recognition as a daily part of "business" or other activities that may be undertaken throughout the year.

- 1. Each mentor in the program will receive personalized "participant" businesssized cards sent by mail that recognize their commitment and participation to the New Insights Mentoring Program. These cards will be provided following their initial match, and updated and redistributed each year to coincide with their annual anniversary date; the cards will prominently state the number of years of service.
- 2. Cards will also be sent to mentors during each December/New Year holiday season and for their birthday, with personal signatures from program and agency staff.
- 3. Every year New Insights Mentoring Program will host a participant recognition event such as a picnic, dinner, or other activity. A mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian of the year award will be presented. A committee including the program coordinator, executive director, and board members will determine award criteria and make final determinations based on recommendations from the program coordinator. Other acknowledgments will be made for length of service (mentors), recruitment of other mentors, best academic improvement (mentee), or other outstanding achievements. Recognition will include a certificate and a nominal gift determined by the committee and budget allowance. The program coordinator will lead the planning and implementation efforts with input, assistance, and attendance of other staff, the executive director, and board members.
- 4. Recognition for length of volunteer service includes:
  - At six months, a letter of appreciation will be sent to the mentor's place of employment, recognizing the mentor's commitment to the program.
  - After one year of service, all mentors will be sent a certificate of appreciation and a handwritten thank-you note or card.
- 5. At five years of service, engraved plaques will be presented for continuous service. All awards and recognitions will be featured in the New Insights newsletter including Participant of the Year awards, length of service recognitions, and any other outstanding service/performance acknowledgments. Participant of the Year awardees will be written up in a press release that will be distributed to local media.
- 6. Outstanding mentors may be asked to assist in presenting at new mentor orientation and training sessions by invitation of the program coordinator.

## Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Procedure

This procedure determines the steps required to comply with the mandatory reporting of child abuse and neglect as required by your state (and your corresponding mandatory reporting policy). It is critical that all staff, agency representatives, and volunteers or mentors fully understand what constitutes child abuse and neglect in your state and how they must report it.

In developing this procedure for your program, you must refer to your state's statutes regarding child abuse and neglect, and confer with your executive director, board of directors, legal counsel, and any risk management advisers. Your program must determine the time frame within which reporting must occur from the time it is suspected, what records are kept and where, with whom they are shared, and who must report the suspected occurrence to state authorities. This procedure must be carefully thought out, including how to process these reports during non-working hours.

#### What to include in this section:

- Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Procedure
- Accompanying Form:
  - Child Abuse and Neglect Report

#### **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE**

## Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Procedure

Note: Any instructions, agencies, or statutes noted within this <u>example</u> procedure are purely fictional and are not meant to portray necessary steps that any agency or program should or must follow! Please consult your agency's legal counsel and state statutes for guidance in developing a tailored Mandatory Reporting procedure for your program.

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision Date: \_\_\_\_\_

All staff, agency representatives, and volunteers must adhere to the following mandatory reporting procedures:

#### **Suspected Child Abuse or Neglect**

- 1. All suspected incidents of child abuse or neglect, recent or otherwise, must be reported to the program coordinator immediately, the same day if possible.
- 2. The program coordinator must fill out the Child Abuse and Neglect Report form detailing critical information about the alleged incident of abuse or neglect. Once completed and reported, this form will be kept in the mentee's file folder.
- 3. The program coordinator must then file a report with the state Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) within 24 hours per state statute.
- 4. If knowledge of the suspected abuse or neglect occurs during non-business hours, the mentor must 1) contact the agency crisis staff on beeper, or 2) make the report to the local community abuse hotline or directly to DCFS. The mentor must first attempt to contact agency/program staff. If unable to do so at the time, he/she must file a report with the program coordinator by noon the next business day. The program coordinator must follow steps 1 and 2 above and follow up with the DCFS to ensure the report was adequately made by the mentor.
- 5. In some cases, the DCFS may require the mentor to be interviewed or make contact with them directly. In such cases, the program coordinator will accompany the mentor as allowed by DCFS.

Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect Procedure, page 2 of 2

# Suspected Child Abuse or Neglect by Program Staff or Volunteers

- 1. The same procedures outlined above will be followed for any suspected child abuse and neglect by any staff person, program representative, or volunteer.
- 2. In addition, the alleged abuser will be investigated by New Insights executive staff and board members.
- 3. During such an investigation, the alleged abuser will be immediately restricted from contact with youth, placed on employment probation, terminated, or suspended from participation in the program.
- 4. In the case of suspicion of a mentor, the parent/guardian will be immediately informed of the suspicion.

## Training

- 1. All program staff, agency representatives, and volunteers must be trained on state statutes of child abuse and neglect laws, and the agency's mandatory reporting policy and procedures prior to working with youth or participating in the New Insights Mentoring Program.
- 2. Reporting of child abuse and neglect is mandated by the training policy and procedure and is included as a required topic in the training curriculum outline for both mentors and mentees.

# **Child Abuse and Neglect Report**

Date:			
Person making report to New Insights:			
Relationship to child:			
Deported to:		Data	
Name of child:			Age:
Address:			
City:			
Telephone:			
Parent/Guardian:			
Relationship to Child:			
Name of person suspected of abuse or neglect: _			
Relationship to the child:			
Describe suspected abuse or neglect; include the abuse to the child in question:	nature and ext	ent of the curren	t injury, neglect, or sexua

Describe, if known, the circumstances leading to the suspicion that the child is a victim of abuse or neglect:

Describe, if known, any previous injuries, sexual abuse, or neglect experienced by this child or other children in this family situation and any previous action taken, if any.

## **Closure Procedure**

A closure procedure outlines the process that the program coordinator should follow for ending a match. The end of a relationship, for whatever reason, can be difficult, especially for the mentee, and special care should be made to make this a smooth transition for the youth. Your closure procedure should outline potential circumstances for closure and list the steps needed to effectively close the match in each situation.

Once it is known a match is closing, it is important to address effective strategies for closing the match. These may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Give the mentee ample warning that the match is ending
- Encourage communication from both the mentor and coordinator to the mentee that the match is closing
- Encourage the match to do something special to celebrate their relationship
- Encourage the youth to express his/her feelings
- Provide access and referral for future support or resources
- Provide guidance for continuing in the program

In all cases, the program coordinator should have formal communication with the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian that the match is formally ending and the role of the program/agency is changing. Each party should be informed verbally and/or in writing that future contact among them is strictly at their own discretion and outside the scope and responsibility of the agency/program.

It is important to carefully coordinate closure and evaluation efforts at this time. Program staff managing the closure process should be knowledgeable of their program's evaluation procedures. If information is gathered from participants at closure via exit surveys, the exit survey data requested must be coordinated with data being collected for final match evaluation, especially if formal evaluation of your program has been contracted to an external organization.

#### What to include in this section:

- Closure Procedure
- Accompanying Forms:
  - Match Closure Summary
  - Mentor Exit Survey
  - Mentee Exit Survey
  - Parent/Guardian Exit Survey
  - Closure Letter

## **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE**

## **Closure Procedure**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Revision	Date:		

New Insights Mentoring Program staff will follow the closure procedures as closely as possible and will vary based on the reasons for the match ending:

- 1. At the point it is decided that a match is closing, the mentoring program staff will fill out a Match Closure Summary form and supervise and instruct all participants through the closure process. A copy of the Match Closure Summary will be placed in both the mentor and mentee files.
- 2. All closures must be classified as to the reason for the match ending. The major classifications are as follows and the circumstances will dictate the procedure to be followed:

#### Planned

A planned closure is one that has been known about for a period of time such as three months or more. Common reasons for planning a match closure may include the match is reaching the end of the one-year commitment, the youth ages out of the program, and/or the goals of the match have been achieved.

#### Extenuating

Extenuating circumstances for match closure are usually more sudden in nature, and beyond the control of the program and/or its participants, i.e., relocation or moving away, or an unexpected personal crisis.

## Difficult

A difficult match closure is due to relationship or behavioral difficulties, i.e., lack of cooperation or contact, parental disapproval, irreconcilable issues, lack of compatibility, and/or violations of program policies.

- 3. In all cases, attempts will be made to have a closure meeting to include program staff, the mentor, and mentee. The parent/guardian may attend if he/she desires. The meeting agenda should cover the following, depending on the circumstances of closure:
  - Open discussion about the relationship ending
  - Complete the closure Exit Surveys
  - Discuss New Insights' policies around future contact (see Closure Policy)
  - Distribute participant Closure Letters

#### Closure Procedure, page 2 of 2

- 4. In the absence of a meeting, program staff will attempt to contact all parties by phone to inform them the match is closing and how best to proceed in closing the match. Closure Letters and Exit Surveys will be mailed out to the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian and will include self-addressed, stamped envelopes.
- 5. In all circumstances, the mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian should all receive a Closure Letter stipulating the match has formally ended and any future contact is beyond the scope and responsibility of New Insights.
- 6. Program staff must coordinate closure proceedings with evaluation requirements and assist in any way necessary to gather evaluation data during this process.
- 7. Copies of the Closure Letters and all completed Exit Surveys should be placed in the respective mentor or mentee files.
- 8. Depending on planned future participation in the program, the files of mentors and/or mentees exiting the program should be kept active or placed in the program archives.

# Match Closure Summary

Name of Mentee:		
Name of Mentor:		
Match Date: Closure Da	te: Length of Mate	:h:
Please check the reason for match closure a	nd whether initiated by mentor or me	entee:
Planned	Mentor	Mentee
Completed one-year match		
Other, specify:		
Extenuating	Mentor	Mentee
Relocation		
Life Change		
Time/Schedule Conflict		
Family/Personal/Health Issues		
Other, specify:		
Difficult	Mentor	Mentee
Violation of Policy		
Behavioral Problems		
Lack of Cooperation with Agency		
Parent/Guardian Withdrew Youth		
Lost Interest		
Other, specify:		
Additional details concerning the closure:		
Recommend rematch? Mentor: 🗌 Yes [	]No Mentee: ∏Yes ∏No	
Completed by:	Date:	

Note: Place copy in both mentor and mentee files

## **Mentor Exit Survey**

Thank you for serving as a mentor in the New Insights Mentoring Program. Your efforts are greatly appreciated. We are always looking for ways to improve our program and appreciate your feedback. Please complete the following and return in the enclosed envelope.

Name:	Date:
Name of Mentee:	
Length of Match: years months	
Check what best describes your relationship with your me	
Very close   Close     Very successful   Successful	Not very close Not very successful
Why is your match ending?	
Do you feel like you made a difference in your mentee's life Please explain below:	? 🗌 Yes 🗌 No
Did you feel you received adequate support and supervisio	n from program staff?
What aspects of the New Insights Mentoring Program did	you like the best?
What aspects of the New Insights Mentoring Program did	you like the least?
What could we have done to make our program a better ex	xperience for you and/or your mentee?
Would you like to be rematched? Yes No Please provide any additional comments:	

# Mentee Exit Survey

Thank you for being a mentee in the New Insights Mentoring Program. We hope you enjoyed being a mentee. We are always looking for ways to improve our program and appreciate your feedback. Please complete the following and return in the enclosed envelope.

Name:		Date:
Name of Mentor:		
Length of Match: years	months	
	Close	ur mentor. Then please explain your answers below: <ul> <li>Not very close</li> <li>Not very successful</li> </ul>
Why is your match ending?		
Do you feel like your mentor made a di Please explain below:	ifference in you	ır life? 🗌 Yes 🗌 No
Did you feel you received adequate sup	oport and supe	rvision from program staff?
What aspects of the New Insights Me	ntoring Prograr	n did you like the best?
What aspects of the New Insights Me	ntoring Prograr	n did you like the least?
What could we have done to make ou	r program a bet	tter experience for you?
Would you like to be rematched?		
Please provide any additional comment	ts:	

# Parent/Guardian Exit Survey

Thank you for letting your child participate in the New Insights Mentoring Program. We hope your child benefited from having a mentor. We are always looking for ways to improve our program and appreciate your feedback. Please complete the following and return in the enclosed envelope.

Name:	Date:
Name of Child:	
Name of Mentor:	
Length of Match: years months	
How would you describe your child's relationship with h	is/her mentor? Please explain your answers below:
Very close     Close       Very successful     Successful	Not very close Not very successful
Why did the match end?	
Do you feel like your child's mentor made a difference in l Please explain below:	nis/her life? 🗌 Yes 🗌 No
Did you feel you received adequate support and supervisi	on from program staff?
What aspects of the New Insights Mentoring Program di	d you like the best?
What aspects of the New Insights Mentoring Program di	d you like the least?
What could we have done to make our program a better	experience for you?
Would you allow your child to be rematched? 🗌 Yes [	No
Please provide any additional comments:	

## **Closure Letter**

New Insights Mentoring Program P.O. Box 5575, WINWOOD HEIGHTS, IL 89633

(Name of Mentor, Mentee, or Parent/Guardian) (Address)

Dear (first name),

This letter is to inform you that the mentoring relationship managed by the New Insights Mentoring Program has officially ended as of (match end date).

(Optional if applicable) We have made attempts to contact you via phone and e-mail to no avail and regret that we are unable to meet with you and go through a formal closure process.

As the match has formally ended, New Insights no longer assumes responsibility for monitoring and supervising the match and your file will be placed on an inactive status. Thus, any future contact between match partners is at the sole discretion of all parties involved (mentor, mentee, and parent/guardian). Any incidents occurring due to future contact among match participants is beyond the scope and responsibility of New Insights.

Thank you for your involvement in our program. We appreciated your participation.

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Gina Meanwell New Insights Program Coordinator

## **Evaluation Procedure**

Having a sound evaluation procedure in place is important for ensuring your program is on track in meeting its goals and mission. Establishing measurable criteria, employing a sound evaluation design, and undertaking objective data collection are key factors in determining the details of your evaluation procedure.

When developing your evaluation procedures, it is important to have a practical understanding of the technical aspects involved in doing a thorough evaluation. For this reason many programs utilize a third party evaluator to undertake this activity.

While your procedure will contain your general evaluation expectations, you will likely need to develop and maintain separate evaluation files and supporting materials.

#### What to include in this section:

 Evaluation procedures, as determined by your staff or external evaluator

#### **NEW INSIGHTS SAMPLE PROCEDURE**

## **Evaluation Procedure**

Board Approval Date: \_\_\_\_

Revision	Date:		

- A contract with Winwood Community College provides they will be responsible for overall evaluation design, development of measurement tools, tabulation, and summaries. Community College staff will oversee the project and be assisted by students.
- 2. New Insights program staff will be responsible for overseeing Winwood Community College's efforts and collecting the evaluation data from mentors and their parents/guardians with assistance from Winwood Community College students.
- 3. Mentee evaluation data will be collected at the end of each six months of participation in the program. Confidential surveys will be mailed to mentees and their parents/guardians to be returned directly to Winwood Community College evaluators.
- 4. Data will be tabulated, evaluated, and compiled into reports at the end of each quarter for those participants reporting that quarter.
- 5. New Insights staff will meet quarterly to review the data and make program modification accordingly.



**Don't forget that there is a template** version of this publication that you can use to create your own policy and procedure manual. The customizable template is downloadable in Microsoft Word format from http://www.hamfish.org. This publication contains pages that have been left intentionally blank for proper pagination when printing.



Hamilton Fish Institute 2121 K Street NW Suite 200 Washington, DC 20037 Ph: (202) 496-2200 Fx: (202) 496-6244 http://www.hamfish.org hamfish@gwu.edu